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Independent auditor’s report to the members 
of Bytes Technology Group plc

Opinion

In our opinion:

•	•	 Bytes Technology Group plc’s Group financial statements and parent company financial statements (the ‘financial statements’) 
give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 29 February 2024 and of the 
Group’s profit for the year then ended;

•	•	 the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards; 

•	•	 the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•	•	 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of Bytes Technology Group plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) 
for the year ended 29 February 2024 which comprise:

Group Parent company

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 29 February 2024 Company balance sheet as at 29 February 2024

Consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended Company statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended Related notes 1 to 11 to the financial statements including 
a summary of significant accounting policies

Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended

Related notes 1 to 30 to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law and 
UK adopted international accounting standards. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the 
parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 ‘Reduced 
Disclosure Framework’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group and parent in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Group or the parent company and 
we remain independent of the Group and the parent company in conducting the audit. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group and parent 
company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

•	•	 Performing a walkthrough of the Group’s financial close process to confirm our understanding of management’s going 
concern assessment process and engaging with management early to ensure all key risk factors identified were considered 
in their assessment.

•	•	 Obtaining management’s going concern assessment, including the cashflow forecasts, covenant calculations and the impact 
assessment of recent events arising from the resignation of the former CEO and forensic investigations, covering the period to 
31 August 2025. We then performed procedures to confirm the clerical accuracy of the underlying model including validating 
the credit facility assumptions.

•	•	 Assessing the Group’s base scenario for consistency with cash flow forecasts used in the goodwill impairment assessment 
over which we have performed detailed audit procedures to challenge the base case assumptions. 
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•	•	 The Group has modelled a base scenario and then two downside scenarios, being a severe but plausible downside scenario 
and a stressed scenario in order to incorporate unexpected changes to the forecasted liquidity of the Group. We have performed 
audit procedures to challenge the base case and the assumptions included in each modelled scenario for the cash forecast 
and covenant calculation. We have considered the potential impact of the Group-led investigations as well as the potential 
impact of geopolitical and macroeconomic risks such as increases in energy costs, wages inflation, supply chain inflation 
and rising interest rates impacting customer spending and customer payments. 

We noted that the key assumptions present were forecast gross invoiced income growth rates, gross profit growth rates, 
headcount and base pay growth rates, overhead growth rates and debtor days. We agreed the forecasts to Board approved 
budgets and performed enquiries with management to understand the basis of the key assumptions. We performed procedures 
to assess their appropriateness, such as reviewing the growth rate assumptions within the context of historic performance. 

We critically assessed management’s ability to accurately forecast through lookback analysis on the last three years of historic 
financial data. Additionally, where possible, we corroborated management’s assumptions to external data points such as 
economic forecasts and competitor trading updates.

•	•	 We reviewed management’s stress test of their cash forecasts and covenant calculations in order to quantify then assess the 
likelihood of the downside scenarios required to exhaust the Group’s forecast liquidity and breach the Group’s covenant ratios.

•	•	 Considering the impact and feasibility of potential mitigating activities that are within control of the Group, such as freezing 
planned growth in headcount, pay rises, and reducing dividend payments. 

•	•	 Reviewing the Group’s going concern disclosures included in the Annual Report in order to assess their completeness and 
conformity with the reporting standards, market practice and FRC guidance.

Our key observations 

•	•	 We observed that at 29 February 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of £88.8 million in addition to the Group’s 
RCF facility of £30 million which is undrawn. On 17 May 2023, the Group’s previous facility was replaced by a facility of the 
same amount and runs for three years, until May 2026. The new facility includes an optional one-year extension to May 2027 
and a non-committed £20 million accordion to increase the availability of funding should it be required for future activity. 

•	•	 The directors’ assessment is that Bytes Technology Group plc has sufficient liquidity and headroom in cash throughout the going 
concern period to 31 August 2025. Management’s severe but plausible scenario demonstrated that a worsening of all key 
assumptions against the base case would not result in liquidity concerns. This is prior to further potential mitigations modelled by 
management. The changes in assumptions modelled are considered to be highly unlikely based on historical financial performance. 

•	•	 We have not identified any material climate-related risks that should be incorporated into Bytes Technology Group plc’s 
forecasts to 31 August 2025. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
for a period until 31 August 2025, being the going concern assessment period.

In relation to the Group and parent company’s reporting on how they have applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have 
nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to the directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the 
directors considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections 
of this report. However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Overview of our audit approach

Audit scope 	փ We performed an audit of the complete financial information of three components and 
audit procedures on specific balances for a further six components.

	փ The components where we performed full or specific audit procedures accounted for 
99% of the Group’s Profit before tax, 100% of Revenue and 100% of Total assets.

Key audit matters 	փ Risk of misstatement of revenue recognised at or near period end
	փ Risk of misstatement of rebate receivable to overstate reported results at period end
	փ Risk of incorrect IFRS 15 presentation and disclosure in respect of principal versus agent
	փ Risk arising from the undisclosed share trading by directors 

Materiality 	փ Overall Group materiality of £3m which represents 5% of forecast profit before tax.

Annual Report and Accounts 2023/24
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An overview of the scope of the parent company and Group audits 

Tailoring the scope
Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality determine our audit scope 
for each company within the Group. Taken together, this enables us to form an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We take into account size, risk profile, the organisation of the Group and effectiveness of Group-wide controls, changes in the 
business environment, the potential impact of climate change and other factors such as recent Internal audit results when 
assessing the level of work to be performed at each company.

In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements, and to ensure we had adequate quantitative 
coverage of significant accounts in the financial statements, of the nine reporting components of the Group, we selected nine 
components covering entities within the United Kingdom, which represent the principal business units within the Group.

Of the nine components selected, we performed an audit of the complete financial information of three components (‘full scope 
components’) which were selected based on their size or risk characteristics. For the remaining six components (‘specific scope 
components’), we performed audit procedures on specific accounts within that component that we considered had the potential for the 
greatest impact on the significant accounts in the financial statements either because of the size of these accounts or their risk profile.

Audit procedures performed on the three full scope components, located in two different locations in the UK, contributed 99% 
(2023: 100%) of the Group’s Profit before tax, 100% (2023: 100%) of the Group’s Revenue and 100% (2023: 99%) of the Group’s 
Total assets. The remaining six specific scope components contributed <1% (2023: <1%) of the Group’s Profit before tax, 0% 
(2023: 0%) of the Group’s Revenue and <1% (2023: 1%) of the Group’s Total assets. To respond to any potential risks of material 
misstatement to the Group financial statements, we performed other procedures on these components, including analytical 
review, confirmation of bank balances, and verification that intercompany and intra-Group investment balances were eliminated 
as part of the consolidation. 

Changes from the prior year 
Our full scope locations and other procedures components are consistent with the prior year. We believe our overall coverage 
is comparable and appropriate for the risk of the business. 

Involvement with component teams 
In establishing our overall approach to the Group audit, the Senior Statutory Auditor, James Harris, determined the type of work 
that needed to be undertaken at each of the components.

As Bytes Group management and trading components (Bytes Software Services and Phoenix Software) operate primarily in the 
UK, we have performed the audit using a single integrated Group team. Therefore, of the three full scope components, audit 
procedures were performed directly by the primary audit team. Overseen by the Senior Statutory Auditor, the Group audit 
team designs, executes, reviews and concludes on all work performed, operating as a single audit team across both locations. 
This integrated team performed all audit procedures at all three full scope components as well as procedures at other scope 
components. Procedures over all components were overseen by the Senior Statutory Auditor including the design, execution 
and conclusion on all work performed.

Climate change 
Stakeholders are increasingly interested in how climate change will impact Bytes Technology Group plc. The Group has 
determined that the most significant future impacts from climate change on their operations will be regulatory changes. These are 
explained on pages 44 to 52 in the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures and on page 62 in the principal risks and 
uncertainties. They have also explained their climate commitments on page 52. All of these disclosures form part of the ‘Other 
information’, rather than the audited financial statements. Our procedures on these unaudited disclosures therefore consisted 
solely of considering whether they are materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
course of the audit or otherwise appear to be materially misstated, in line with our responsibilities on ‘Other information’. 

In planning and performing our audit we assessed the potential impacts of climate change on the Group’s business and any 
consequential material impact on its financial statements. 

Our audit effort in considering the impact of climate change on the financial statements was focused on evaluating management’s 
assessment of the impact of climate risk, physical and transition, their climate commitments, the effects of material climate risks 
disclosed on pages 44 to 52; and the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in the financial statements and the conclusion that no 
issues were identified that would impact on the accounting judgements and estimates in the current year and no material impact 
on assets and liabilities as at 29 February 2024. We also challenged the directors’ considerations of climate change risks in their 
assessment of going concern and viability and associated disclosures. 

Based on our work we have not identified the impact of climate change on the financial statements to be a key audit matter or to 
impact a key audit matter. 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Bytes Technology Group plc continued
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Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to 
fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the allocation of 
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial statements as a whole, and in our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Risk Our response to the risk
Key observations communicated 
to the Audit Committee 

Misstatement of revenue recognised 
at or near period end 

Refer to the Audit Committee report 
(page 85); accounting policies (page 157); 
and note 3 of the consolidated financial 
statements (page 164).

The Group has reported revenue of 
£207.0 million (2023: £184.4 million).

Revenue reported in accordance with IFRS 
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
is a key financial metric for the business. 

Compensation incentives are also 
based on gross profit or adjusted 
operating profit targets, creating a 
risk of revenue misstatement through 
management override.

Management’s process for accounting for 
certain revenue transactions, particularly 
the review process at or near the year end 
is mostly manual and therefore susceptible 
to error (either deliberate or without intent).

There is therefore a risk that revenue is 
recognised prematurely or fictitiously 
around period end or revenue is held back 
to distort earnings between periods.

The overall risk of revenue recognition 
has remained consistent compared to 
the prior year.

We have performed the following key audit procedures on 
revenue transactions (included in gross invoiced income):

	� Re-confirmed our understanding of management’s 
process in determining the revenue recognition point 
and understood the process of entering into a 
contract and agreeing terms with customers, and 
how contracts are then assessed to ensure correct 
revenue recognition terms are applied through 
discussions held. 

	� Assessed revenue cut-off by testing transactions 
recorded before and after the year end on a sample 
basis by vouching to proof of satisfaction of the 
related evidence of whether or not performance 
obligations had been satisfied.

	� Addressed the risk of management override by testing 
a sample of manual journal entries recorded at or near 
year end by verifying these to supporting documentation.

	� Tested a sample of credit notes issued subsequent to 
the year end.

	� Tested a sample of sales transactions related to the 
rendering of services which were deferred at the 
year end and recalculated the deferred elements 
to obtain assurance over the calculation of 
deferred revenue. 

	� Utilised data analytics to analyse the full population of 
sales-related journal entry data to track sales from 
revenue though to accounts receivable through to 
cash collection. We used this analysis to validate the 
appropriateness of transaction flow and test a sample 
of transactions to determine if the journals accurately 
reflected the substance of the transaction recorded. 

We performed full scope audit procedures over this 
risk area in two locations, which covered 100% of 
the risk amount.

Through our procedures 
performed we have not identified 
any unsupported manual 
adjustments to revenue.

We conclude that the revenue 
recognised at or near year end 
was properly accounted for 
and that revenue has been 
appropriately recognised in 
accordance with IFRS 15.

Annual Report and Accounts 2023/24
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Risk Our response to the risk
Key observations communicated 
to the Audit Committee 

IFRS 15 presentation and disclosure in 
respect of principal versus agent

Refer to the Audit Committee report 
(page 89); accounting policies  
(pages 157 to 158); and note 3 of the 
consolidated financial statements 
(page 164).

The Group has recognised an 
agency adjustment of £1,616.0 million 
(2023: £1,254.9 million) in respect of 
income to be recognised net as agent 
under IFRS 15.

The Group makes a judgement as to 
whether the Group is a principal or agent 
against each specified good or service. 
There is a risk that the reported revenue 
may be incorrectly presented as a result of 
incorrectly assessing whether the Group 
has control over the products or services 
sold and consequently if the Group is 
principal or agent in its arrangements 
with customers. The overall process 
to categorise the population between 
principal or agent is manual in nature 
and thus susceptible to error.

We performed the following key audit procedures:

	� Re-confirmed our understanding of management’s 
processes, methodologies and judgements in identifying 
and categorising revenue transactions as principal (gross) 
or agent (net) based on the new accounting policy.

	� Tested a sample of transactions across the year to 
determine the Group’s key control over the product or 
service including:

	 –	� Verifying the product type by obtaining evidence for 
each transaction and agreeing back to underlying 
data, such as customer purchase order, to determine 
the Group’s categorisation of the product or service.

	 –	� Tested the related cost for the sample selected by 
tracing through to supporting purchase invoices. 

	 –	� Assessed whether principal (gross) or agent (net) 
treatment should be applied and compared to 
management’s conclusion. 

	� Reperformed management’s agency adjustment 
calculation to ensure this has been performed 
correctly, i.e., the revenue, cost of sales and margin 
agency adjustment is correct. 

	� Tested that the methodology utilised to calculate 
the adjusted performance measure (‘APM’) ‘gross 
invoiced income’ is consistent with the FY 2023 
Annual report, assessing management’s rationale 
for including the APM and ensuring that the amount 
reported is reconciled to reported revenue.

We performed full scope audit procedures over this risk area 
in two locations, which covered 100% of the risk amount.

We concluded that the 
presentation of revenue 
transactions is appropriate 
and have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRS 15.

Misstatement of rebate receivable to 
overstate reported results at period end

Refer to the Audit Committee report 
(page 85); and accounting policies 
(page 158). 

The Group has reported a year-end rebate 
receivable of £5.7 million (2023: £5.1 million).

Bytes Technology Group plc has rebate 
arrangements with suppliers, which are 
based on agreed percentages of sales 
made to the customers during the current 
rebate period.

While most rebates are agreed with the 
supplier and received during the year, there 
is a degree of estimation at or around the 
year end when the rebate is accrued ahead 
of the full information on the rebate being 
available. The resulting estimation 
uncertainty around the rebate receivable 
balance therefore provides scope for the 
use of management override to influence 
reported amounts through the estimated 
rebate adjustments posted to cost of sales.

The overall risk over rebate receivable 
has remained consistent compared to 
the prior year. 

We have performed the following key audit procedures:

	� Updated our understanding of the procedures and key 
controls in place over the recognition and recording of 
rebates including understanding the key assumptions 
used within management’s determination of the estimate.

	� Independently tested a sample of the rebate 
receivable balance at year end and vouched back to 
third-party source documentation being subsequent 
cash or credit notes received.

	� Analysed the rebate receivable balance by vendor 
and compared the largest vendor balances against 
28 February 2023. Performed an analysis to 
understand the drivers of increases or decreases 
in the underlying balances to identify higher levels 
of risk where changes were not anticipated.

	� Made enquires of management to understand the 
movements in rebate trends that are not in line with 
our expectations or understanding of the business.

	� Assessed the accuracy of management’s previous 
estimates as tested as at 28 February 2023 and 
31 August 2023. 

	� Tested a sample of rebate transactions recorded to 
the statement of profit and loss throughout the year 
to vendor issued credit notes or bank statements 
for cash collections to determine whether the 
transactions have been recorded appropriately.

We performed full scope audit procedures over this risk area 
in two locations, which covered 100% of the risk amount.

We concluded that the rebate 
receivable at the year end and 
the corresponding rebates 
income is appropriate in 
accordance with IFRS.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Bytes Technology Group plc continued
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Risk Our response to the risk
Key observations communicated 
to the Audit Committee 

Risk arising from the undisclosed 
share trading by directors

Refer to the Governance Report 
(pages 69 to 70); and the Audit Committee 
Report (page 86).

As announced on 21 February 2024, the 
Group’s former Chief Executive Officer, 
Neil Murphy, resigned with immediate 
effect, on account of undisclosed trading 
in the Group’s shares. These trades were 
undertaken between January 2021 to 
November 2023 and were announced to 
the market on 23 February 2024 and then 
again on 13 March 2024 when further 
undisclosed trades relating to persons 
closely associated (PCA) with him were 
identified.  

In March 2024, the directors appointed a 
subcommittee of the Board and engaged 
external forensic experts and external legal 
advisers to undertake an investigation into 
the undisclosed share dealings of the 
former CEO. 

Previously, in October 2023, the directors 
appointed a subcommittee of the Board, 
and undertook an externally facilitated 
review of circumstances relating to the 
share purchase by a PCA of a former 
non-executive director which was not 
disclosed in the prior period Annual 
Report and Accounts. 

These matters have resulted in the 
disclosures included in the directors’ 
remuneration report in the prior year 
being restated. 

Our audit focused on ensuring the 
completeness and accuracy of the 
shareholding disclosures included in the 
directors’ remuneration report, including 
the impact of the restatement on the 
Annual Report and Accounts. 

We have performed the following key audit procedures:

	� With support from our internal forensic specialists, 
we assessed the nature, scope and objectives of 
the internal investigation undertaken by the Board 
to ensure that this was appropriately designed to 
address the potential risks identified. 

	� We assessed the independence, objectivity and 
competence of the external forensic investigators.

	� We reviewed the key documents supporting the 
investigation, including share registers, interview 
transcripts and document / data captures.

	� With the assistance of the EY forensics team, we 
challenged the external investigators and the directors 
regarding the findings of the investigation and 
designed additional procedures where required.

	� In addition, we designed and performed incremental 
audit procedures which included:

	 –	� Understanding the company’s process and 
procedures around directors share dealings and the 
process followed to ensure that the share register is 
complete and accurate.

	 –	� Performing procedures over the completeness of 
the share trading transactions undertaken by the 
former CEO and his PCA. A completeness check 
was also performed for all other directors. 

	 –	� Ensuring the actions from the recommendations 
arising from the investigations have been 
implemented or that a timeline for implementation 
has been established.

	 –	� Reviewing the completeness and accuracy of the 
disclosures in the director’s remuneration report, 
including the consequential disclosures for the prior 
year restatement. 

We communicated to 
management and the Audit 
Committee our findings and 
observations following the 
completion of the Board 
led investigation. 

We are satisfied that the 
disclosures included in the 
shareholding and share interest 
table within the directors’ 
remuneration report reflect the 
revised shareholding position 
following completion of the 
investigation, and a prior year 
adjustment is required to adjust 
for the previously undisclosed 
share trades. 

In the current year, we have added a key audit matter relation to the risk arising from the undisclosed share trading by directors 
which has been a key focus of the Board this year. There have been no other changes in our assessment of key audit matters 
compared with prior year.
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Our application of materiality 

We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements 
on the audit and in forming our audit opinion. 

Materiality
The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality provides a basis for determining the nature and extent of our 
audit procedures.

We determined materiality for the Group to be £3 million (2023: £2.5 million), which is 5% (2023: 5%) of profit before tax. 
We believe that profit before tax provides the most relevant measure of underlying performance to the stakeholders of the Group. 
The increase in the current year is in line with the increase in profitability in the year. 

We determined materiality for the Parent Company to be £9 million (2023: £6.8 million), which is 1% (2023: 1%) of total equity.

Performance materiality
The application of materiality at the individual account or balance level. It is set at an amount to reduce to an appropriately low level 
the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group’s overall control environment, our judgement was 
that performance materiality was 50% (2023: 50%) of our planning materiality, namely £1.5 million (2023: £1.2 million). We have set 
performance materiality at this percentage due to our overall risk assessment and expectations on misstatements. 

Audit work at component locations for the purpose of obtaining audit coverage over significant financial statement accounts is 
undertaken based on a percentage of total performance materiality. The performance materiality set for each component is based 
on the relative scale and risk of the component to the Group as a whole and our assessment of the risk of misstatement at that 
component. In the current year, the range of performance materiality allocated to components was £0.5 million to £1.3 million 
(2023: £0.2 million to £1.1 million). 

Reporting threshold
An amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all uncorrected audit differences in excess of £0.1 million 
(2023: £0.1 million), which is set at 5% of planning materiality, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, 
warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. 

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in light 
of other relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.

Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 1 to 133, including the Strategic 
report set out on pages 1 to 65, and the Governance report set out on pages 66 to 133, other than the financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated 
in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives 
rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Bytes Technology Group plc continued
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

•	•	 the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and those reports have been prepared in accordance with applicable 
legal requirements;

•	•	 the information about internal control and risk management systems in relation to financial reporting processes and about 
share capital structures, given in compliance with rules 7.2.5 and 7.2.6 in the Disclosure Rules and Transparency Rules 
sourcebook made by the Financial Conduct Authority (the FCA Rules), is consistent with the financial statements and has 
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements; and

•	•	 information about the company’s corporate governance statement and practices and about its administrative, management 
and supervisory bodies and their committees complies with rules 7.2.2, 7.2.3 and 7.2.7 of the FCA Rules.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the parent company and its environment obtained in the course 
of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in:

•	•	 the strategic report or the directors’ report; or

•	•	 the information about internal control and risk management systems in relation to financial reporting processes and about 
share capital structures, given in compliance with rules 7.2.5 and 7.2.6 of the FCA Rules.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report 
to you if, in our opinion:

•	•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or

•	•	 the parent company financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•	•	 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•	•	 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

•	•	 a Corporate Governance Statement has not been prepared by the company.

Corporate Governance Statement

We have reviewed the directors’ statement in relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of the Corporate 
Governance Statement relating to the Group and company’s compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate 
Governance Statement is materially consistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the audit:

•	•	 Directors’ statement with regards to the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and any material 
uncertainties identified set out on page 131;

•	•	 Directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the company’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the period 
is appropriate set out on pages 64 to 65;

•	•	 Director’s statement on whether it has a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meets 
its liabilities set out on page 131;

•	•	 Directors’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable set out on pages 132 to 133;

•	•	 Board’s confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on pages 53 to 62;

•	•	 The section of the annual report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems 
set out on page 88; and

•	•	 The section describing the work of the audit committee set out on pages 83 to 93.
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Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on pages 132 to 133, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and parent company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to 
fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, 
forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

However, the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with governance 
of the company and management. 

•	•	 We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Group and determined 
that the most significant are those related to the reporting framework (UK adopted international accounting standards, the 
Companies Act 2006, the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 and in regard to the parent company financial statements, 
UK GAAP including FRS 101) and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the UK.

•	•	 We understood how Bytes Technology Group plc is complying with those frameworks by making enquires of management and 
those responsible for legal, compliance and governance matters. We corroborated our enquiries through our review of board 
minutes, discussions with the Audit Committee, directors (including subcommittees of the investigations), the Company 
Secretary, and any correspondence from regulatory bodies and those responsible for legal and compliance procedures. 

•	•	 We assessed the susceptibility of the Group’s financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud might occur 
by meeting with management from various parts of the business to understand where it considered there was susceptibility 
to fraud and by assessing key assumptions over significant estimates made by management for evidence of bias. We also 
considered the performance targets and their propensity to influence efforts made by management to manage revenue and 
earnings. We considered the programmes and controls that the Group has established to address risks identified, or that 
otherwise prevent, deter and detect fraud; and how senior management monitors those programmes and controls.

•	•	 We also considered the risk of management override of controls and any direct impact of the resignation of the former CEO. 
The key audit matter section above addresses procedures performed in areas where we have concluded the incremental 
risk arising from the undisclosed share trading of directors.

•	•	 Where the risk was considered to be higher, including areas impacting Group key performance indicators or management 
remuneration, we performed audit procedures to address each identified fraud risk or other risk of material misstatement. 
These procedures included those on revenue recognition detailed above as well as testing manual journals; and were 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements were free from fraud and error. We performed 
journal entry testing, focusing on the key audit matters, as described in the section above, the testing of manual consolidation 
journals and journals that indicated large or unusual transactions based on our understanding of the business. 

•	•	 Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with such laws and regulations. 
We reviewed Board minutes, external legal advice and reports to the Board on the conclusion of the investigations and 
inquiries with management and directors. Our procedures included a focus on compliance with the accounting, governance 
and regulatory frameworks and other relevant legislations through obtaining sufficient audit evidence in line with the level of 
risk identified, in conjunction with compliance with relevant legislation, including tax computations and returns and 
corroborated that dividend payments complied with the relevant legal requirements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s 
website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Bytes Technology Group plc continued
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Other matters we are required to address

•	•	 Following the recommendation from the Audit Committee we were appointed by the company on 25 February 2021 
to audit the financial statements for the year ending 28 February 2021 and subsequent financial periods. 

The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and reappointments is four years, 
covering the years ending 28 February 2021 to 29 February 2024.

•	•	 The audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee.	

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

 

James Harris (Senior statutory auditor) 
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Southampton

22 May 2024
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 29 February 2024

Note

Year ended 
29 February

2024
£’000

Year ended
28 February

2023
£’000

Revenue 3 207,021 184,421

Cost of sales (61,243) (54,848)

Gross profit 145,778 129,573

Administrative expenses 4 (87,839) (77,753)

Impairment on trade receivables 17 (1,227) (937)

Operating profit 56,712 50,883

Finance income 7 5,111 –

Finance costs 7 (393) (491)

Share of profit of associate 12 166 –

Profit before taxation 61,596 50,392

Income tax expense 8 (14,745) (9,971)

Profit after taxation 46,851 40,421

Profit for the period attributable to owners of the parent company 46,851 40,421

Pence Pence

Basic earnings per ordinary share 28 19.55 16.88

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 28 18.85 16.28

The consolidated statement of profit or loss has been prepared on the basis that all operations are continuing operations. 

There are no items to be recognised in other comprehensive income and hence, the Group has not presented a statement of other 
comprehensive income.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 29 February 2024

Note

As at 
29 February

2024
£’000

As at 
28 February

2023
£’000

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 9 8,478 8,380
Right-of-use assets 10 1,411 783
Intangible assets 11 40,646 41,526
Investment in associate 12 3,193 –
Contract assets 13 2,689 397
Deferred tax asset 8 834 –

Total non-current assets 57,251 51,086

Current assets

Inventories 15 60 58
Contract assets 13 11,756 10,684
Trade and other receivables 17 221,815 185,920
Cash and cash equivalents 18 88,836 73,019

Total current assets 322,467 269,681

Total assets 379,718 320,767

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 10 (1,314) (917)
Contract liabilities 14 (2,137) (1,976)
Deferred tax liabilities 8 – (635)

Total non-current liabilities (3,451) (3,528)

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19 (277,917) (231,717)
Contract liabilities 14 (19,348) (23,914)
Current tax liabilities (243) (36)
Lease liabilities 10 (423) (75)

Total current liabilities (297,931) (255,742)

Total liabilities (301,382) (259,270)

Net assets 78,336 61,497

Equity

Share capital 20 2,404 2,395
Share premium 20 633,650 633,636
Share-based payment reserve 11,050 7,235
Merger reserve 21 (644,375) (644,375)
Retained earnings 75,607 62,606

Total equity 78,336 61,497

The consolidated financial statements on pages 146 to 181 were authorised for issue by the Board on 22 May 2024 and were 
signed on its behalf by:

	

Sam Mudd	 Andrew Holden 
Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 29 February 2024

Note

Attributable to owners of the company

Share 
capital

£’000

Share 
premium

£’000

Share-based 
payment
 reserve

£’000

Merger 
reserve

£’000

Retained
earnings

£’000

Total
equity
£’000

Balance at 1 March 2022 2,395 633,636 3,072 (644,375) 52,839 47,567

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 40,421 40,421

Dividends paid 24(b) – – – – (30,654) (30,654)

Share-based payment transactions 27 – – 4,188 – – 4,188

Tax adjustments 8 – – (25) – – (25)

Balance at 28 February 2023 2,395 633,636 7,235 (644,375) 62,606 61,497

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 46,851 46,851

Dividends paid 24(b) – – – – (36,641) (36,641)

Shares issued during the year 20 9 14 – – – 23

Transfer to retained earnings 27 – – (2,791) – 2,791 –

Share-based payment transactions 27 – – 5,708 – – 5,708

Tax adjustments 8 – – 898 – – 898

Balance at 29 February 2024 2,404 633,650 11,050 (644,375) 75,607 78,336
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 29 February 2024

Note

Year ended 
29 February

2024
£’000

Year ended 
28 February

2023
£’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 22 67,333 48,889

Interest received 7 5,111 – 

Interest paid 7 (330) (443)

Income taxes paid (15,109) (10,295)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 57,005 38,151

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment 9 (1,334) (1,363)

Investment in associate (3,027) –

Net cash outflow from investing activities (4,361) (1,363)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issues of shares 23 –

Principal elements of lease payments 10 (209) (233)

Dividends paid to shareholders 24(b) (36,641) (30,654)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (36,827) (30,887)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 15,817 5,901

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 73,019 67,118

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 18 88,836 73,019
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1	 Accounting policies 

1.1	 General information
Bytes Technology Group plc, together with its subsidiaries 
(‘the Group’ or ‘the Bytes business’) is one of the UK’s 
leading providers of IT software offerings and solutions, 
with a focus on cloud and security products. The Group 
enables effective and cost-efficient technology sourcing, 
adoption and management across software services, 
including in the areas of security and cloud. The Group 
aims to deliver the latest technology to a diverse and 
embedded non-consumer customer base and has a long 
track record of delivering strong financial performance. 
The Group has a primary listing on the Main Market of the 
London Stock Exchange (LSE) and a secondary listing on 
the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE).

1.2	 Basis of preparation
The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International 
Accounting Standards (IAS) in conformity with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

The Group’s material accounting policies and presentation 
considerations on both the current and comparative periods 
are detailed below.

In adopting the going concern basis for preparing the financial 
statements, the directors have considered the business 
activities and the Group’s principal risks and uncertainties 
in the context of the current operating environment. This 
includes the current geopolitical environment, the current 
challenging economic conditions, and reviews of future 
liquidity headroom against the Group’s revolving credit 
facilities, during the period under assessment. The 
approach and conclusion are set out fully in note 1.3.

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified to include 
derivative financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

1.3	 Going concern
The going concern of the Group is dependent on 
maintaining adequate levels of resources to continue to 
operate for the foreseeable future. The directors have 
considered the principal risks, which are set out in the 
Group’s risk report within the strategic report, in addition to 
ever-present risks such as the Group’s exposure to credit 
risk as described in note 17, and liquidity risk, currency risk 
and foreign exchange risk as described in note 23. 

When assessing the going concern of the Group, the 
directors have reviewed the year-to-date financial actuals, 
as well as detailed financial forecasts for the period up to 
31 August 2025, being the going concern assessment 
period. This represents 18 months from the end of the 
reporting period, rather than the minimum 12 months 
required under International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1, 
to reflect the possible effect of events occurring after the 
end of the reporting period up to the date that the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

The assumptions used in the financial forecasts are 
based on the Group’s historical performance and 
management’s extensive experience of the industry. 

Taking into consideration the Groups principal risks, 
the impact of the current economic conditions and 
geopolitical environment, and future expectations, the 
forecasts have been stress-tested through a number of 
downside scenarios to ensure that a robust assessment 
of the Group’s working capital and cash requirements 
has been performed.

Operational performance and operating model
The Group is now reporting its fourth year of strong growth 
since it listed in December 2020. In the current year of 
reporting, the Group has achieved double-digit growth in 
gross invoiced income (GII), revenue, gross profit (GP) and 
operating profit, and finished the year with £88.8 million of 
cash compared to the prior year £73.0 million.

During the year, customers have continued to move their 
software products and data off-site and into the cloud, 
requiring the Group’s advice and ongoing support around this, 
as well as needing flexibility and added security, with hybrid 
working continuing to be significant for many customers.

On top of these existing opportunities, we are seeing 
growing requirements for artificial intelligence (AI) 
functionality within IT applications and a demand for 
guidance and support from our customers. While we also 
recognise this as an emerging risk, due to the potential of 
this technology to change the IT and working landscape 
and the associated risks from security, moral, legal and 
ethical standpoints, we primarily consider AI and machine 
learning an opportunity for our business, as we expand 
sales into areas such as Microsoft’s Copilot and support 
our customers to capitalise on this emerging technology.

Resilience continues to be built into the Group’s operating 
model from its wide customer base, high levels of repeat 
business, strong vendor relationships, increased demand 
driven by heightened IT security risks, and the back-to-back 
nature of most of its sales. This is explained further below.

•	•	 Wide ranging customer base – The Group’s income 
includes a large volume of non-discretionary spend 
from UK corporates because IT is vital to run their 
day-to-day operations and to establish competitive 
advantage in an increasingly digital age. Public sector 
organisations have similarly sought efficiencies, 
resilience, and security within their IT infrastructures. 
This is evident from the 26.7% increase in GII during the 
year, and our mix of private and public customers means 
that a downturn in one area can be compensated by 
upturns in others. This year, though, both sectors 
have performed strongly, with public sector GII 
growing by 32.8% and corporate GII by 17.6%. 

Sales risk is further mitigated by the fact that none 
of the Group’s wide range of customers contributes 
more than 1% of GP. Indeed, during the year only two 
customers generated GP in excess of £1 million out 
of a total Group GP of £145.8 million. While we have 
some significant contributions to our GII by individual 
customers, most notably the NHS, these are primarily 
long-term (three-year) contracts within the public 
sector, which makes our income even more secure 
and provides the opportunity to develop and monetise 
those accounts further. Even then, the largest customer 
has provided only 8% of our total GII of £1.8 billion 
during the year.
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•	•	 High levels of repeat business – Due to the nature 
of licensing schemes and service contracts, a high 
proportion of business is repeatable in nature, with 
subscriptions needing to be renewed for the customer 
to continue to enjoy the benefit of the product or 
service. Indeed, excluding sales of hardware and 
services, the remaining dominant balance of our GII 
– some £1.7 billion (94%) of software – falls into this 
bracket. The largest software contracts, Microsoft 
enterprise agreements (EAs), run for three years and 
it is rare to lose a contract mid-term, which mitigates 
the risk of income reducing rapidly. The Group has a 
high success rate in securing renewals of existing EA 
agreements and winning new ones. 

Increasingly, customers transact their cloud software 
requirements under usage-based cloud solution 
provider (CSP) contracts, which provide flexibility but 
also make the running of many of their key business 
functions dependent on maintaining these agreements 
and reliant on the Group’s support to manage them.

The high level of customer retention and growth is 
illustrated by the renewal rate for the year of 109%, 
a measure of the rate of growth in GP from existing 
customers, who also contributed 97% of total GP in the 
year. The Group will continue to focus on increasing its 
customer base and spend per customer during the 
going concern period.

•	•	 Microsoft relationship strength – With 68% of the 
Group’s GII and 50% of GP generated from sales of 
Microsoft products and associated service solutions, 
this continues to be a very important partnership for 
both sides. These contributions from Microsoft remain 
closely in line with previous years in percentage terms; 
in absolute terms, as our largest vendor, we have 
now seen their contribution to GII and GP exceed 
£1.2 billion and £70 million respectively. 

As with the customer side, the licensing of a large 
proportion of EA software over three-year terms 
reduces the risk of income falling away quickly. 
Also, with the notable move towards more agile 
‘pay-as-you-go’ CSP contracts around cloud-based 
applications, this makes those agreements even 
more ‘sticky’, by increasing the dependency of the 
customer on the cloud infrastructure and products 
which Microsoft provides. 

Further, the Microsoft partnership has created the 
opportunity for the Group to develop a host of skill 
sets, so it is best placed to advise and support the 
customers in whatever direction they choose to fulfil 
their licensing requirements from a programmatic, 
purchasing and consumption perspective. To this 
end, the Group has attained high levels of Microsoft 
expert status, specialisations and solution partner 
designations in numerous Microsoft technology 
areas. In turn, Microsoft rewards partners who have 
these awards with additional levels of funding. The 
Board is engaged directly with Microsoft executives 
in developing the partnership further and Microsoft 
business is currently growing at double-digit rates.

Within the Microsoft program offerings, and also 
those of other vendors, including dedicated security 
software providers, the Group has seen an increased 
demand for security products and functionality to 
protect customer IT systems. This has arisen from the 
increased risk of cyber threats and attacks and has 
generated additional requirements for the Group’s 
support in this area.

Most recently we have seen Microsoft develop and 
launch its AI product, Copilot. The Group enrolled in its 
early access programme during the year in preparation 
to support customers to improve productivity using 
Copilot within their Microsoft 365 applications, and 
we have developed associated services to support 
customer readiness and adoption. We will continue to 
carefully expand our internal skills in preparation for 
this to gain increasing momentum in 2024/25 and 
beyond and to complement the existing Microsoft 
solutions we sell.

While vendor concentration, and over-reliance on any 
one supplier, is identified as one of our principal risks, 
the very close daily workings between the two sides, 
the mutually beneficial growth in business, and the 
increase in accreditations and awards, makes the 
Group a key partner to Microsoft, as they are to us. 
We therefore believe the risk of cessation of the 
Microsoft relationship to be remote.

•	•	 Back-to-back sales model – The Group’s business is 
substantially derived from the sale of software that it 
transacts on a ‘back-to-back’ basis, meaning all orders 
placed with vendors follow the receipt of a customer 
order, and the intangible nature of software products 
means that the Group is not exposed to inventory risk. 
Hardware sales are also made on a back-to-back basis, 
and delivered direct from suppliers to customers, so 
the Group is not required to invest in, or hold, stock.

As a result of these factors described above, the directors 
believe that the Group operates in a resilient industry, 
which will enable it to continue its profitable growth 
trajectory – but it remains very aware of the risks that 
exist in the wider economy.

Over the past year we have seen the continued risks 
around energy, wage and commodities inflation; supply 
problems and product shortages caused by the ongoing 
conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East; and climate 
change. These risks align to those identified in our principal 
risks statement, notably economic disruption, inflation, and 
attraction and retention of staff. The Board monitors these 
macroeconomic and geopolitical risks on an ongoing 
basis. These risks are considered further below.

Macroeconomic risks
•	•	 Energy cost inflation – Our businesses are not 

naturally heavy consumers of energy, and hence this 
element of our overall cost base is very small, at less 
than 0.5% of the total Group administrative expenses. 
Even a substantial percentage rise would not have a 
significant impact on our operating profit. Indeed, we 
are now starting to see a downward trend following 
many months with high prices.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1.3	 Going concern continued
•	•	 Cost of sales inflation and competition leading to 

margin pressure – While pricing from our suppliers 
may be at risk of increasing, as they too face the same 
macroeconomic pressures as ourselves, our 
commercial model is based on passing on supplier 
price increases to our customers. We also see 
pressure from our customers, notably in the public 
sector space where new business must often be won 
under highly competitive tendering processes. So, 
while there has been a reduction in our gross profit/
gross invoiced income (GP/GII%) in the period, this is 
almost entirely attributable to two exceptionally large 
new public sector contracts which were secured at 
reduced margins, for strategic reasons, in order to 
monetise those accounts over the longer contract 
terms. Excluding those deals, we have seen only a 
minimal reduction in our GP/GII% compared to the 
prior period and this remains one of the biggest focus 
areas in our business.

•	•	 Wage inflation – The business has been facing 
pressure from wage inflation over the past two to 
three years. Where strategically required, we have 
increased salaries to retain key staff in the light of 
approaches from competitors, especially where staff 
have specialist or technical skills. We monitor our staff 
attrition rate and have maintained a level around 16%, 
which is consistent with last year. We do not believe 
there has been any significant outflow of staff due to 
being uncompetitive with salaries. We have a strong, 
collaborative and supportive culture and offer our 
staff employment in a business that is robust and they 
are proud of. This is a key part of our attraction and 
retention strategy.

In addition, when we look at our key operational 
efficiency ratio of adjusted operating profit/gross 
profit (AOP/GP), we have achieved 43.4%, which is 
in line with last year, demonstrating the control over 
rising staff costs in response to the growth of the 
business. While we have already aligned staff salaries 
to market rates, further expected rises have been 
factored into the financial forecasts in line with 
those awarded in the past year. 

•	•	 Interest rates – The substantial rise in UK and 
global interest rates since the pandemic has had a 
negative financial impact on many organisations and 
households. The Group, however, has no debt and so 
currently no exposure, nor has it ever needed to call 
on its revolving credit facility (RCF). We have taken 
advantage of the recent higher interest rates to 
generate a significant £5.1 million of interest income 
in the reporting period, due to the timing difference 
we see in our cash flow model between customer 
receipts and supplier payments, and by placing cash 
on the money markets through our monthly cash 
cycle. While there are indications that interest rates 
may start to fall in the coming months, as inflation 
comes down, we still see substantial earnings 
opportunity over the going concern period.

•	•	 Foreign currency rate changes – The vast majority 
of our business is transacted in GBP. Where we do 
transact in foreign currencies, fluctuations in the 
value of the pound sterling can have both positive and 
negative impacts but we have the ability to self-hedge 
as we make both sales and purchases in US dollars 
and euros. 

•	•	 Inflation and rising interest rates impacting on 
customer spending – While customers may consider 
reducing spending on IT goods and services, if they 
are seen as non-essential, we have seen increased 
spending by our customers, because IT may be a 
means to efficiencies and savings elsewhere. As our 
customers undergo IT transformation, trending to the 
cloud, automation and managed service, and with 
growing cybersecurity concerns also heightening the 
requirements for IT security, we are seeing no let-up 
in demand, as illustrated by our reported trading 
performance. This is supported by our very robust 
operating model, with business spread over many 
customers in repeat subscription programs and 
service contracts, and high renewal rates.

•	•	 Inflation and rising interest rates impacting on 
customer payments – Across the year we have seen a 
reduction in our average debtor days from 39 to 37 
and in our closing debtor days from 37 to 34 
compared to prior year, and with minimal evidence 
that customers ultimately do not pay. Indeed, we have 
suffered only a small level of bad debt during the year: 
£0.3 million against GII of £1.8 billion (see note 17). 
While we have provided for a higher loss allowance 
against trade receivables at the year end, this is due 
to the increased volumes of business, and still only 
represents 1% of the closing balances due.

As in previous years, the majority of our GII (62%), 
came from the public sector, traditionally very safe 
and with low credit risk, while our corporate customer 
base includes a wide range of blue-chip organisations 
and with no material reliance on any single customer.

Geopolitical risks
The current geopolitical environment, most notably the 
conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East, has created 
potential supply problems, product shortages and 
general price rises, particularly in relation to fuel, 
gas and electricity.

•	•	 As noted above, increasing energy prices are not 
having a noticeable impact on our profitability.

•	•	 In terms of supply chain, we are not significantly or 
materially dependent on the movement of goods, 
so physical trade obstacles are not likely to affect us 
directly, with hardware only making up 2% of our GII 
during the year. Nevertheless, we have ensured that we 
have a number of suppliers with substitute, or alternative, 
technologies that we can rely on if one supplier cannot 
meet our requirements or timescales. This indicates 
that we have managed the supply chain well.

•	•	 Software sales, though, continue to be the dominant 
element of our overall GII and so are not inherently 
affected by cross-border issues.
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Climate change risks
The Group does not believe that the effects of climate 
change will have a material impact on its operations and 
performance over the going concern assessment period 
considering:

•	•	 The small number of UK locations it operates from

•	•	 A customer base substantially located within the UK 

•	•	 A supply chain that is not reliant on international trade 
and does not source products and services from 
parts of the world that may be affected more severely 
by climate change 

•	•	 It sells predominantly electronic software licences 
and so has no manufacturing or storage requirements 

•	•	 Its workforce can work seamlessly from home should 
any of their normal work locations be affected by a 
climatic event, although in the UK these tend to be 
thankfully infrequent and not extreme.

Climate risks are considered fully in the Task Force on 
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) included 
in the Annual Report.

Additional risk considerations in relation to resignation 
of Group CEO
The Group’s former CEO, Neil Murphy, resigned on 
21 February 2024, when it transpired he had engaged in 
unauthorised and undisclosed trading in the company’s 
shares between January 2021 to November 2023, which 
the company was notified of and also announced to the 
market on 23 February 2024 and then again on 13 March 
2024 when further undisclosed trades were identified. 

In the subsequent investigation conducted by the Group 
regarding these breaches of market regulations, we have 
considered whether this has, or may in the future, create 
reputational damage, which could in turn affect the 
Group’s relationships with key stakeholders and ultimately 
affect the Group’s future financial performance, including 
its profits and cash flows. We have considered potential 
adverse impacts in the context of the going concern 
assessment, notably whether we believe the maximum 
extent of possible risks would be catered for within our 
stress tests and downside models. We have taken into 
account the effect, if any, on our major stakeholders, 
being our customers, suppliers, staff, and other external 
parties such as our bank, HSBC. 

In summary, our customers and vendors deal with our 
two operating companies, because that is where their 
contractual arrangements sit, and not at Group level. Their 
relationships are with the managing directors, leadership 
teams and staff at the two operational entities, many 
established over years or decades. In the case of 
customers, they deal ostensibly with one operation or the 
other and, as noted in the operating model section above, 
resilience comes from our wide customer base and from 
having no reliance on any one customer. Certain vendors 
deal with both operations but not with the Group per se. For 
some of the largest customer and vendor accounts there 
may also be relationships at Group Board level, as would 
be expected, most notably with Microsoft. These are 
long-standing, deep and close relationships and, from our 
observations and direct dialogue with key parties, we have 
seen no impact on our operational performance to date. 

For our staff too, its business as usual and we have not 
seen any change to staff attrition rates or ability to attract 
new staff. Our bank has not raised any concerns or 
questions and the availability of our RCF is unaffected. 

As time passes, we believe the possibility of impacts 
materialising will diminish even further. Therefore, based 
on the above considerations, any potential impacts from 
this matter have not been specifically factored into the 
modelling scenarios described below as we believe the 
sensitivities modelled under our most stressed downside 
(30% reductions in GII and GP) would be sufficient to cater 
for any losses, should they arise.

Liquidity and financing position
At 29 February 2024, the Group held instantly accessible 
cash and cash equivalents of £88.8 million. 

The balance sheet shows net current assets of 
£24.5 million at year end; this amount is after the Group 
paid final and special dividends for the prior year totalling 
£30.2 million and an interim dividend for the current year 
of £6.5 million. Post year end the Group has remained 
cash positive and this is expected to remain the case with 
continued profitable operations in the future and customer 
receipts collected ahead of making the associated 
supplier payments.

The Group has access to a committed RCF of £30 million 
with HSBC. The facility commenced on 17 May 2023, 
replacing the Group’s previous facility for the same 
amount, and runs for three years, until 17 May 2026. 
The new facility includes an optional one-year extension to 
17 May 2027 and a non-committed £20 million accordion 
to increase the availability of funding should it be required 
for future activity. To date, the Group has not been required 
to use either its previous or new facilities, and we do not 
forecast use of the new facility over the going concern 
assessment period. 

Approach to cash flow forecasts and downside testing
The going concern analysis reflects the actual trading 
experience through the financial year to date, Board-
approved budgets to 28 February 2025 and detailed 
financial forecasts for the period up to 31 August 2025, 
being the going concern assessment period. The Group 
has taken a measured approach to its forecasting and 
has balanced the expected trading conditions with 
available opportunities.

In its assessment of going concern, the Board has 
considered the potential impact of the current economic 
conditions and geopolitical environment as described 
above. If any of these factors leads to a reduction in 
spending by the Group’s customers, there may be 
an adverse effect on the Group’s future GII, GP, 
operating profit, and debtor collection periods. Under 
such downsides, the Board has factored in the extent to 
which they might be offset by reductions in headcount, 
recruitment freezes and savings in pay costs (including 
commissions and bonuses). As part of the stressed 
scenario, where only partial mitigation of downsides is 
possible, the Board confirmed that the RCF would not 
need to be used during the going concern period up to 
31 August 2025.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1.3	 Going concern continued

Details of downside testing
The Group assessed the going concern by comparing 
a base case scenario to two downside scenarios and, in 
each of the downside cases, taking into consideration two 
levels of mitigation: full and partial. These scenarios are 
set out below.

•	•	 Base case was forecast using the Board-approved 
budget for the year ending 28 February 2025 and 
extended across the first six months of the following 
year to 31 August 2025. 

•	•	 Downside case 1, Severe but plausible, modelled GII 
reducing by 10% year on year, GP reducing by 15% 
year on year and debtor collection periods extending 
by five days, in each case effective from June 2024. 

•	•	 Downside case 2, Stressed, modelled both GII 
and GP reducing by 30% year on year and debtor 
collection periods extending by ten days, again in 
each case effective from June 2024. 

•	•	 Partial mitigation measures modelled immediate 
‘self-mitigating’ reduction of commission in line with 
falling GP, freezing recruitment of new heads and not 
replacing natural leavers from September 2024, 
freezing future pay from March 2025 (as current year 
rises are already committed) and freezing rises in 
general overheads from March 2025. 

•	•	 Full mitigation measures modelled additional headcount 
reductions from March 2025, in line with falling GP.

The pay and headcount mitigations applied in the 
downside scenarios are within the Group’s control and, 
depending on how severe the impacts of the modelled 
downside scenarios are, the Group could activate further 
levels of mitigation. For example:

•	•	 Those relating to headcount freezes or reductions 
could be implemented even more quickly than 
indicated above to respond to downward trends as, 
considering the sudden and significant falls in 
profitability and cash collections modelled under both 
downsides, we would not wait for a full three months 
before taking any action.

•	•	 We would also be able to take more action to lower 
our operating cost base, given the flexibility of our 
business model.

•	•	 A natural reduction in the level of shareholder 
dividends would follow, in line with the modelled 
reductions in profit after tax.

Therefore, the Board believes that all mitigations have 
been applied prudently and are within the Group’s control.

Under all scenarios assessed, the Group would remain 
cash positive throughout the whole of the going concern 
period, have no requirement to call on the RCF and remain 
compliant with the facility covenants. Dividends are 
forecast to continue to be paid in line with the Group’s 
dividend policy to distribute 40% of the post-tax pre-
exceptional earnings to shareholders.

The directors consider that the level of stress-testing is 
appropriate to reflect the potential collective impact of all 
the macroeconomic and geopolitical matters described 
and considered above.

Going concern conclusion
Based on the analysis described above, the Group has 
sufficient liquidity headroom through the forecast period. 
The directors therefore have reasonable expectation that 
the Group has the financial resources to enable it to 
continue in operational existence for the period up to 
31 August 2025, being the going concern assessment 
period. Accordingly, the directors conclude it to be 
appropriate that the consolidated financial statements 
be prepared on a going concern basis.

1.4	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
requires the use of accounting estimates which, 
by definition, will seldom equal the actual results. 
Management also needs to exercise judgement 
in applying the Group’s accounting policies.

This note provides an overview of the areas that involved 
significant judgement or complexity. Estimates and 
judgements are continually evaluated and are based 
on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Detailed information 
about each of these estimates and judgements is included 
in other notes, together with information about the basis of 
calculation for each affected line item in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

(i)	 Key accounting judgements
The areas involving key accounting judgements are:

•	•	 Revenue recognition – Principal versus agent, 
see note 1.10.
Under IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers, when recognising revenue, the Group 
is required to assess whether its role in satisfying 
its various performance obligations is to provide the 
goods or services itself (in which case it is considered 
to be acting as principal) or arrange for a third party 
to provide the goods or services (in which case it is 
considered to be acting as agent). Where it is 
considered to be acting as principal, the Group 
recognises revenue at the gross amount of 
consideration to which it expects to be entitled. 
Where it is considered to be acting as agent, the 
Group recognises revenue at the amount of any fee or 
commission to which it expects to be entitled or the 
net amount of consideration that it retains after paying 
the other party. 
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To determine the nature of its obligation, the standard 
primarily requires that an entity shall:

(a) Identify the specified goods or services to be 
provided to the customer

(b) Assess whether it controls each specified good 
or service before that good or service is transferred 
to the customer by considering if it:

a.	is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise 
to provide the specified good or service

b.	has inventory risk before the specified good 
or service has been transferred to a customer 

c.	has discretion in establishing the price for the 
specified good or service.

Judgement is therefore required as to whether the 
Group is a principal or agent against each specified 
good or service, noting that a balanced weighting of 
the above indicators may be required when making 
the assessment.

The specific judgements made for each revenue 
category are discussed in the accounting policy for 
revenue, note 1.10, as disclosed below. 

(ii)	 Significant accounting estimates and uncertainties
There are no major sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of 
resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(iii)	 Other accounting estimates and uncertainties
The other areas involving accounting estimates are 
included below. The effect of climate change has been 
considered in determining any critical judgements or 
adjustments required in the preparation of the Group’s 
financial statements. During the current year, and within 
the next financial year, the impact, if any, is not expected 
to create any significant risks which result in a material 
misstatement to the financial statements occurring. 
However, the effects of climate change over the longer 
term are more uncertain and may be more significant.

•	•	 Property, plant and equipment (see notes 1.20 and 9) 
and leases (see notes 1.14 and 10).
The Group’s assets under these categories primarily 
comprise freehold land and buildings and leasehold 
buildings with much smaller net book values reported 
for computer equipment, furniture and fittings. IAS 16 
Property, Plant and Equipment requires an item of 
property, plant and equipment (PPE) to be recognised 
if it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the entity 
and its cost can be measured reliably.

Consideration has been made as to whether climate-
related matters may affect the value of any items of 
PPE, their economic life or residual value. As noted 
in the Task Force on Climate-related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD) statement with the strategic report, 
none of the Group’s items of PPE, the properties and 
the assets included within them, are deemed to be at 
risk or prone to damage from acute or chronic weather 
events which could arise as part of climate change. 
Also, none of the items of PPE is deemed susceptible to 
being phased out, replaced or made redundant under 
any climate-related legislative changes.

Hence it is judged that there is no material risk from 
climate change to the carrying values of any items of 
PPE on the balance sheet at 29 February 2024.

•	•	 Estimation of recoverable amount of goodwill 
(see notes 1.15 and 11). 
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has 
suffered any impairment, in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in note 1.15. The recoverable 
amounts of cash generating units (CGUs) have been 
determined based on value-in-use calculations which 
require the use of assumptions. The calculations use 
cash flow projections based on forecasts approved by 
management covering a five-year period. The growth 
rates used in the forecasts are based on historical 
growth rates achieved by the Group. Cash flows 
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the 
estimated growth rates disclosed in note 11. The 
forecast cash flows are discounted, at the rates 
disclosed in note 11, to determine the CGUs value-in-
use. The sensitivity of changes in the estimated growth 
rates and the discount rate are disclosed in note 11. 

•	•	 Impairment of intangible assets (see notes 1.15, 
1.21 and 11). 
The Group’s assets under this category comprise 
goodwill, customer relationships and brands, arising 
on acquisition of subsidiaries. Customer relationships 
and brands are recognised at fair value after deduction 
of accumulated amortisation over their useful lives. 
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets requires an entity to 
assess, at the end of each reporting period, whether 
there are any impairment indicators for an entity’s 
assets. Impairment indicators include significant 
changes in the technological, market, economic 
or legal environment in which the entity operates.

Consideration has been made as to whether climate-
related matters may affect any of these conditions 
which in turn may affect the economic performance 
of an asset or CGU, or its long-term growth rates. For 
example, customer buying behaviours, requirement to 
make significant investments in new technologies, or 
an increase in costs generally charged by suppliers. 
Further, climate change indirectly resulting in an 
increase in market interest rates is likely to affect the 
discount rate used in calculating an asset’s or CGU’s 
value in use. This, in turn, could decrease the asset’s 
or CGU’s recoverable amount by reducing the present 
value of the future cash flows and result in a lower 
value in use.

However, as noted in the TCFD statement with the 
strategic report, the Group continually monitors the 
regulatory and legal environment and takes external 
advice as required. It expects the impact from changing 
customer behaviours to be small given the Group’s 
primary business is the supply of critical cloud, security 
and software products and IT services. Further, the 
Group does not rely on overseas operations, or 
require colleagues to work on-site at all times. Nor 
does it need to have physical products transported 
to maintain the economic performance of its CGUs.

Hence it is judged that there is no material risk from 
climate change to the carrying values of any intangible 
assets on the balance sheet at 29 February 2024.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1.4	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements continued
•	•	 Provisions (see note 1.24)

IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets requires a provision to be recognised when an 
entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
because of a past event, it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the obligation. If any of the conditions 
for recognition are not met, no provision is recognised, 
and an entity may instead have a contingent liability. 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but 
explanatory disclosures are required, unless the 
possibility of an outflow in settlement is remote. In the 
case of an onerous contract, the provision reflects the 
lower of the costs of fulfilling the contract and any 
compensation or penalties from a failure to fulfil it. 

Consideration has been made as to whether climate-
related matters may result in the recognition of new 
liabilities or, where the criteria for recognition are not 
met, new contingent liabilities may have to be disclosed. 
Further consideration has been made as to whether 
climate change, and any resulting associated legislation, 
may require past judgements to be reconsidered.

The Group has judged that there is no material risk 
from climate change which requires new provisions to 
be made or existing provisions to be reconsidered at 
29 February 2024.

The Group will continue to review and assess potential 
climate change impacts when making judgements in 
relation to its accounting for assets and liabilities or 
for its future earnings and cash flows. However, for the 
financial statements for the year ended 29 February 
2024, the Group believes there is no material impact 
or risk of misstatement. 

1.5	� New standards, interpretations and amendments 
adopted by the Group

(a)	 New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The Group has applied the following standard or 
amendments for the first time in the annual reporting 
period commencing 1 March 2023: 

•	•	 Definition of Accounting Estimates – Amendments 
to IAS 8

•	•	 Disclosure of Accounting Policies – Amendments 
to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

•	•	 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 
from a Single Transaction – Amendments to IAS 12

•	•	 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules – 
Amendments to IAS 12

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on 
the amounts recognised in current or prior periods and 
are not expected to affect future periods.

(b)	 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations 
have been published that are not mandatory for 
29 February 2024 reporting periods and have not been 
adopted early by the Group. These standards are not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group in the 
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable 
future transactions.

1.6	 Principles of consolidation 

1.6.1 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has 
control. The Group controls an entity where the Group is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power to direct the activities of 
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised 
gains on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the 
transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 
have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

1.6.2 Associate
An associate is an entity over which the Group has 
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions 
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those 
policies. The Group’s investment in its associate is 
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is 
initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the 
investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s 
share of net assets of the associate since the acquisition 
date. The statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s 
share of profit of the associate. Where there is objective 
evidence that the investment in associate is impaired, the 
amount of the impairment is recognised within ‘Share of 
profit of associate’ in the statement of profit or loss.

1.7	 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker who views the Group’s operations on 
a combined level, given they sell similar products and 
services, and substantially purchase from the same 
suppliers and under common customer frameworks. 
The Group has therefore determined that it has only 
one reportable segment under IFRS 8, which is that of 
‘IT solutions provider’. 

1.8	 Finance income and costs
Finance income comprises interest income on funds 
invested. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in 
profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprises interest expense on borrowings 
and the unwinding of the discount on lease liabilities, that 
are recognised in profit or loss as it accrues using the 
effective interest method.

1.9	 Foreign currency translation

(i)	 Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the consolidated financial statements 
of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).
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(ii)	 Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and 
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange 
rates, are generally recognised in profit or loss. They are 
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow 
hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are 
attributable to part of the net investment in a 
foreign operation. 

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented 
in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis, 
within ‘other gains/(losses)’.

1.10	 Revenue recognition
Revenue recognition principles across all 
revenue streams

The Group recognises revenue on completion of its 
performance obligations at the fixed transaction prices 
specified in the underlying contracts or orders. There are 
no variable price elements arising from discounts, targets, 
loyalty points or returns. Where the contract or order 
includes more than one performance obligation, the 
transaction price is allocated to each obligation based 
on their stand-alone selling prices. These are separately 
listed as individual items within the contract or order.

In the case of sales of third-party products and services, 
the Group’s performance obligations are satisfied by 
fulfilling its contractual requirements with both the 
customer and the supplier (which may be direct with the 
product vendor), ensuring that orders are processed 
within any contractual timescales stipulated. In the case of 
sales of the Group’s own in-house products and internal 
services, this includes the Group fulfilling its contractual 
responsibilities with the customer.

That primary areas of judgement for revenue recognition 
as principal versus agent are set out above under our key 
accounting judgements policy and described further 
below for each revenue category.

Software 
The Group acts as an advisor, analysing customer 
requirements and designing an appropriate mix of 
software products under different licensing programs. 
This may include a combination of cloud and on-premise 
products, typically used to enhance users’ productivity, 
strengthen IT security or assist in collaboration. The way in 
which the Group satisfies its performance obligations 
depends on the licensing programs selected. 

Direct software sales – the Group’s performance 
obligation is to facilitate software sales between vendors and 
customers, but the Group is not party to those sales contracts. 
Supply and activation of the software licences, invoicing 
and payment all take place directly between the vendor 
and the customer. The transaction price for the customer 
is set by the vendor with no involvement from the Group. 
Therefore, the Group does not control the licences prior 
to their delivery to the customer and hence acts as agent. 

The Group is compensated by the vendor with a fee based 
on fixed rates set by the vendor applied to the customer 
transaction price and determined according to the 
quantity and type of products sold. Revenue is recognised 
as the fee received from the vendor on a point in time basis 
when the vendor’s invoicing to the customer takes place.

Indirect software sales – the Group’s performance 
obligation is to fulfil customers’ requirements through 
the procurement of appropriate on-premise software 
products, or cloud-based software, from relevant 
vendors. Operating as a reseller, the Group invoices, 
and receives payment from, the customer itself. Whilst 
the transaction price is set by the Group at the amount 
specified in its contract with the customer, the software 
licensing agreement is between the vendor and the 
customer. The vendor is responsible for issuing the 
licences and activation keys, for the software’s 
functionality, and for fulfilling the promise to provide the 
licences to the customer. Therefore, the Group acts as 
agent and revenue is recognised as the amount retained 
after paying the software vendor. As a reseller, the Group 
recognises indirect software sales revenue on a point-in-
time basis once it has satisfied its performance 
obligations. This takes two main forms as follows:

In the case of cloud-based software sales, the Group 
arranges for third-party vendors to provide customers 
with access to software in the cloud. As the sales 
value varies according to monthly usage, revenue is 
recognised once the amount is confirmed by the 
vendor and the Group has analysed the data and 
advised the customer. This is because the 
responsibilities of the Group to undertake such 
activities mean that these performance obligations 
are satisfied at each point usage occurs and the 
Group has a right to receive payment. 

In the case of licence sales (non cloud-based 
software) arising from fixed-price subscriptions where 
the customer makes an up-front payment, the Group 
recognises revenue when the contract execution or 
order is fulfilled by the Group because its 
performance obligation is fully satisfied at that point. 
Typically, these take the form of annual instalments 
where the Group is required to undertake various 
contract review activities at each anniversary date. 

Hardware – resale of hardware products
The Group’s activities under this revenue stream comprise 
the sale of hardware items such as servers, laptops and 
devices. For hardware sales, the Group acts as principal, 
as it assumes primary responsibility for fulfilling the 
promise to provide the goods and for their acceptability, 
is exposed to inventory risk during the delivery period 
and has discretion in establishing the selling price.

Revenue is recognised at the gross amount receivable 
from the customer for the hardware provided and on a 
point-in-time basis when delivered to the customer.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1.10	 Revenue recognition continued

Services internal – provision of services to customers 
using the Group’s own internal resources
The Group’s activities under this revenue stream comprise 
the provision of consulting services using its own internal 
resources. The services provided include, but are not 
limited to, helpdesk support, cloud migration, 
implementation of security solutions, infrastructure, and 
software asset management services. The services may 
be one-off projects where completion is determined on 
delivery of contractually agreed tasks, or they may 
constitute an ongoing set of deliverables over a contract 
term which may be multi-year. 

When selling internally provided services, the Group acts 
as principal as there are no other parties involved in the 
process. Revenue is recognised at the gross amount 
receivable from the customer for the services provided. 
The Group recognises revenue from internally provided 
consulting services on an over-time basis. This is because 
the customer benefits from the Group’s activities as the 
Group performs them. For service projects extending over 
more than one month the Group applies an inputs basis by 
reference to the hours expended to the measurement 
date, and the day rates specified in the contract. For 
managed services and support contracts the revenue is 
recognised evenly over the contract term. 

Services external – provision of services to customers 
using third-party contractors
The Group’s activities under this revenue stream comprise 
the sale of a variety of IT services which are provided by 
third-party contractors. These may be similar to the 
internally provided consulting services, where the Group 
does not have the internal capacity at the time required by 
the customer or may be services around different IT 
technologies and solutions where the Group does not 
have the relevant skills in-house. 

Whilst the transaction price is set by the Group at the 
amount specified in its contract with the customer, when 
selling externally provided services, the Group acts as 
agent because responsibility for delivering the service 
relies on the performance of the third-party contractor. If 
the customer is not satisfied with their performance, the 
third party will assume responsibility for making good the 
service and obtaining customer sign-off. The Group will 
not pay the third party until customer sign-off has been 
received. Revenue is recognised at the amount retained 
after paying the service provider for the services delivered 
to the customer on a point-in-time basis. The Group does 
not control the services prior to their delivery and its 
performance obligations are satisfied at the point the 
service has been delivered by the third party and 
confirmed with the customer.

1.11	 Contract costs, assets and liabilities

Contract costs
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
The Group recognises the incremental costs of obtaining 
a contract when those costs are incurred. For revenue 
recognised on a point-in-time basis, this is consistent with the 
transfer of the goods or services to which those costs relate. 

For revenue recognised on an over-time basis, the Group 
applies the practical expedient available in IFRS 15 and 
recognises the costs as an expense when incurred 
because the amortisation period of the asset that would 
otherwise be recognised is less than one year.

Costs to fulfil a contract
The Group recognises the costs of fulfilling a contract 
when those costs are incurred. This is because the 
nature of those costs does not generate or enhance the 
Group’s resources in a way that enables it to satisfy its 
performance obligations in the future and those costs 
do not otherwise qualify for recognition as an asset.

Contract assets
The Group recognises a contract asset for accrued 
revenue. Accrued revenue is revenue recognised from 
performance obligations satisfied in the period that has 
not yet been invoiced to the customer.

Contract assets also include costs to fulfil services 
contracts (deferred costs) when the Group is invoiced by 
suppliers before the related performance obligations of 
the contract are satisfied by the third party. Deferred costs 
are measured at the purchase price of the associated 
services received. Deferred costs are released from the 
consolidated statement of financial position in line with 
the recognition of revenue on the specific transaction.

Contract liabilities
The Group recognises a contract liability for deferred 
revenue when the customer is invoiced before the related 
performance obligations of the contract are satisfied. 
A contract liability is also recognised for payments 
received in advance from customers. Contract liabilities 
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs its 
obligations under the contract to which they relate. 

1.12	 Rebates
Rebates from suppliers are accounted for in the period in 
which they are earned and are based on commercial 
agreements with suppliers. Rebates earned are mainly 
determined by the type and quantity of products within 
each sale but may also be volume-purchase related. They 
are generally short term in nature, with rebates earned but 
not yet received typically relating to the preceding month’s 
or quarter’s trading. Rebate income is recognised in cost 
of sales in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
rebates earned but not yet received are included within 
trade and other receivables in the consolidated statement 
of financial position.

1.13	 Income tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax 
payable on the current period’s taxable income, based on 
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted 
by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable 
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated based on the 
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the 
reporting period in the countries where the company and 
its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
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regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes 
provisions, where appropriate, based on amounts 
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided for in full, using the liability 
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the consolidated financial statements. However, 
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from 
the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is 
also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred 
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that 
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of 
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred income tax asset is realised, or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise 
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for 
temporary differences between the carrying amount and 
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the 
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate 
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and 
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally 
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on 
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this 
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, respectively.

1.14	 Leases

Lessee
The Group leases a property and various motor vehicles. 
Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods but 
may have extension options included. Lease terms are 
negotiated on an individual basis and contain different 
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not 
impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be 
used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a 
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased 
asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and finance 
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over 
the lease period to produce a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each 
period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the 
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a 
straight-line basis. The Group is depreciating the right-of-
use assets over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially 
measured at the net present value of the minimum lease 
payments. The net present value of the minimum lease 
payments is calculated as follows:

•	•	 Fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable

•	•	 Variable lease payments that are based on an index 
or a rate

•	•	 Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under 
residual value guarantees

•	•	 The exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee 
is reasonably certain to exercise that option

•	•	 Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the 
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease; where this rate cannot be determined, 
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate is used.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising 
the following:

•	•	 The net present value of the minimum lease payments

•	•	 Any lease payments made at, or before, the 
commencement date less any lease incentives received

•	•	 Any initial direct costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as 
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases 
with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets 
comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss for each category 
of assets on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative 
periods are as follows:

•	•	 Buildings, 8 years

•	•	 Motor vehicles, 2 to 3 years.

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values 
are reassessed annually and adjusted if appropriate. 
Gains and losses arising on the disposal of leased assets 
are included as capital items in profit or loss.

1.15	 Impairment of non-financial assets 
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite 
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount might not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows 
from other assets or groups of assets (cash generating 
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that 
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal 
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1.16	 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with 
financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice 
of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly 
liquid investments that mature in no more than three 
months from the date of acquisition and that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value. 

For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, 
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term 
deposits as defined above.

1.17	 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for 
merchandise sold or services rendered in the ordinary course 
of business. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the 
amount of consideration that is unconditional, i.e. fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less loss allowance. Prepayments 
and other receivables are stated at their nominal values.

1.18	 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value considering market conditions and 
technological changes. Cost is determined on the first-in 
first-out and weighted average cost methods. Work and 
contracts in progress and finished goods include direct 
costs and an appropriate portion of attributable overhead 
expenditure based on normal production capacity. 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs 
of completion and selling expenses.

1.19	 Financial instruments
Financial instruments comprise investments in equity, 
loans receivable, trade and other receivables (excluding 
prepayments), investments, cash and cash equivalents, 
restricted cash, non-current loans, current loans, bank 
overdrafts, derivatives and trade and other payables.

Recognition
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the 
Group’s statement of financial position when the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments. Financial assets are recognised on the date 
the Group commits to purchase the instruments (trade 
date accounting).

Financial assets are classified as current if expected to 
be realised or settled within 12 months from the reporting 
date; if not, they are classified as non-current. Financial 
liabilities are classified as non-current if the Group has 
an unconditional right to defer payment for more than 
12 months from the reporting date.

Classification
The Group classifies financial assets on initial recognition 
as measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI), or fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL) based on the Group’s business 
model for managing the financial asset and the cash 
flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Financial assets are classified as follows:

•	•	 Financial assets to be measured subsequently at fair 
value (either through other comprehensive income 
(OCI) or through profit or loss) 

•	•	 Financial assets to be measured at amortised cost. 

Financial assets are not reclassified unless the Group 
changes its business model. In rare circumstances 
where the Group does change its business model, 
reclassifications are done prospectively from the date 
that the Group changes its business model.

Financial liabilities are classified and measured at 
amortised cost except for those derivative liabilities and 
contingent considerations that are measured at FVTPL.

Measurement on initial recognition
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value, including transaction costs, except 
for those classified as FVTPL which are initially measured 
at fair value excluding transaction costs. Transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or 
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement: financial assets
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets are 
measured as described below:

•	•	 FVTPL – these financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value and changes therein (including 
any interest or dividend income) are recognised in 
profit or loss

•	•	 Amortised cost – these financial assets are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less impairment losses. 
Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and 
impairments are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain 
or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss

•	•	 Equity instruments at FVOCI – these financial assets 
are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends 
are recognised in profit or loss when the right to 
receive payment is established. Other net gains and 
losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, 
gains and losses accumulated in OCI are not 
reclassified to profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement: financial liabilities
All financial liabilities, excluding derivative liabilities and 
contingent consideration, are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Derivative liabilities are subsequently measured at fair 
value with changes therein recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have 
been transferred and the Group has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial 
liabilities are derecognised when the obligations specified 
in the contracts are discharged, cancelled or expire. 
On derecognition of a financial asset or liability, any 
difference between the carrying amount extinguished 
and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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Offsetting financial instruments
Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities is applied when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis 
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
The net amount is reported in the statement of 
financial position.

Impairment 
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to 
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables 
have been grouped based on credit risk characteristics 
and the days past due. 

The expected credit loss (ECL) rates are based on the 
payment profiles of sales over a 12-month period before 
29 February 2024, 28 February 2023 and 1 March 2022 
respectively and the corresponding historical credit 
losses experienced within this period. The historical loss 
rates are reviewed and adjusted to reflect current and 
forward-looking information on macroeconomic 
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables.

Trade receivables are written off where there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there 
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, among 
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment 
plan with the Group, and a failure to make contractual 
payments for a period of greater than 120 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as 
net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against the same line item.

Derivatives
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the 
date that a derivative contract is entered into as either a 
financial asset or financial liability if they are considered 
material. Derivatives are subsequently remeasured to 
their fair value at the end of each reporting period, with 
the change in fair value being recognised in profit or loss.

1.20	 Property, plant and equipment

Owned assets
Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. When 
components of an item of property, plant and equipment 
have different useful lives, those components are 
accounted for as separate items of property, plant 
and equipment.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is 
integral to the functionality of the related equipment is 
capitalised as part of that equipment.

Subsequent costs
The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of 
such an item when the cost is incurred, if it is probable that 
future economic benefits embodied within the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of such item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced item of property, 
plant and equipment is derecognised. All other costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as an expense when incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss for each 
category of assets on a straight-line basis over their 
expected useful lives up to their respective estimated 
residual values. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative 
periods are as follows:

•	•	 Buildings, 20 to 50 years

•	•	 Leasehold improvements (included in land and 
buildings), shorter of lease period or useful life 
of asset

•	•	 Plant and machinery, 3 to 20 years

•	•	 Motor vehicles, 4 to 8 years

•	•	 Furniture and equipment, 5 to 20 years

•	•	 IT equipment and software, 2 to 8 years.

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values 
are reassessed annually and adjusted if appropriate. Gains 
and losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment are included as capital items in profit or loss.

1.21	 Intangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as described in note 1.15. Goodwill 
on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible 
assets. Goodwill is not amortised, but it is tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be 
impaired and is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an 
entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to 
the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the 
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to 
those cash generating units or groups of cash generating 
units that are expected to benefit from the business 
combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or 
groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which 
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

Brands and customer relationships
Brands and customer relationships acquired in a business 
combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. They have a finite useful life and are subsequently 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses.

The useful lives for the brands and customer 
relationships are as follows:

•	•	 Customer relationships, 10 years 

•	•	 Brands, 5 years.

Annual Report and Accounts 2023/24

FIN
A

N
C

IA
L S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
S

S
TR

ATE
G

IC
 R

E
P

O
R

T
G

O
V

E
R

N
A

N
C

E
 R

E
P

O
R

T

161



Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1.21	 Intangible assets continued

Software
Costs associated with maintaining software programs 
are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development 
costs that are directly attributable to the design and 
testing of identifiable and unique software products 
controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible 
assets where the following criteria are met:

•	•	 It is technically feasible to complete the software 
so that it will be available for use

•	•	 Management intends to complete the software 
and use or sell it

•	•	 There is an ability to use or sell the software

•	•	 It can be demonstrated how the software will 
generate probable future economic benefits

•	•	 Adequate technical, financial and other resources 
to complete the development and to use or sell 
the software are available

•	•	 The expenditure attributable to the software during 
its development can be reliably measured.

The useful lives for software is 2 to 8 years.

Research and development 
Research expenditure and development expenditure 
that do not meet the criteria above are recognised as 
an expense as incurred. Development costs previously 
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an 
asset in a subsequent period.

1.22	 Trade and other payables
Trade payables, sundry creditors and accrued expenses 
are obligations to pay for goods or services that have 
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from 
suppliers. They are accounted for in accordance with 
the accounting policy for financial liabilities as included 
above. Amounts received from customers in advance, 
prior to confirming the goods or services required, are 
recorded as other payables. Upon delivery of the goods 
and services, these amounts are recognised in revenue. 
Other payables are stated at their nominal values.

1.23	 Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of 
the borrowings using the effective-interest method. Fees 
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised 
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is 
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. 
In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawdown occurs. 
To the extent that there is no evidence that it is probable 
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is 
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and 
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates. 

1.24	 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation because of past events, for 
which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation, and where a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money 
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

1.25	 Employee benefits

Short-term obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave, that 
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after 
the end of the period in which the employees render the 
related service are recognised in respect of employees’ 
services up to the end of the reporting period and are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as 
current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

Post-employment obligations
The Group operates various defined contribution plans 
for its employees. Once the contributions have been paid, 
the Group has no further payment obligations. The 
contributions are recognised as employee benefit 
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are 
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is 
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or 
when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange 
for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits 
at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no 
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the 
Group recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the 
scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of termination 
benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based 
on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. 
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period are discounted to present value.

Share-based payments
Equity settled share-based payment incentive scheme
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to 
particular employees of the Group through the Bytes 
Technology Group plc share option plans. Information 
relating to all schemes is provided in note 27.
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Employee options
The fair values of options granted under the Bytes Technology Group plc share option plans are recognised as an employee 
benefit expense, with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the 
fair value of the options granted. The share-based payment reserve comprises the fair value of share awards granted which 
are not yet exercised. The amount will be reversed to retained earnings as and when the related awards vest and are exercised 
by employees.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all the specified vesting conditions 
are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options issued that are 
expected to vest based on the service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, 
in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

1.26	 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

1.27	 Dividends
Dividends paid on ordinary shares are classified as equity and are recognised as distributions in equity.

1.28	 Earnings per share

(i)	 Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

•	•	 The profit attributable to owners of the company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares

•	•	 By the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in 
ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

(ii)	 Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to consider:

•	•	 The after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares

•	•	 The weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding, assuming the conversion 
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

1.29	 Rounding of amounts
All amounts disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and notes have been rounded off to the nearest thousand, 
unless otherwise stated.

2	 Segmental information

2(a)	 Description of segment 
The information reported to the Group’s Chief Executive Officer, who is considered to be the chief operating decision maker 
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of performance, is based wholly on the overall activities of the 
Group. The Group has therefore determined that it has only one reportable segment under IFRS 8, which is that of ‘IT 
solutions provider’. The Group’s revenue, results, assets and liabilities for this one reportable segment can be determined by 
reference to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of financial position. An analysis of 
revenues by product lines and geographical regions, which form one reportable segment, is set out in note 3.	

2(b) Adjusted operating profit
Adjusted operating profit is an alternative performance measure which excludes the effects of intangible assets amortisation 
and share-based payment charges.

Adjusted operating profit reconciles to operating profit as follows:

Note

Year ended 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

Year ended
28 February 

2023
£’000

Adjusted operating profit 63,300 56,377
Share-based payment charges 27 (5,708) (4,188)
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 4 (880) (1,306)

Operating profit 56,712 50,883
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

3	 Revenue from contracts with customers

3(a)	 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services in the following major product lines and 
geographical regions:

Revenue by product

Year ended
29 February 

2024
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Software 130,365 114,108
Hardware 41,389 38,355
Services internal 31,517 28,454
Services external 3,750 3,504

Total revenue from contracts with customers 207,021 184,421

Software
The Group’s software revenue comprises the sale of various types of software licences (including both cloud-based and 
non-cloud-based licences), subscriptions and software assurance products.

Hardware
The Group’s hardware revenue comprises the sale of items such as servers, laptops and other devices.

Services internal
The Group’s internal services revenue comprises internally provided consulting services through its own internal resources.

Services external
The Group’s external services revenue comprises the sale of externally provided training and consulting services through 
third-party contractors.

Revenue by geographical regions

Year ended
29 February 

2024
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

United Kingdom 199,912 177,882

Europe 4,326 4,358

Rest of world 2,783 2,181

207,021 184,421

3(b)	 Gross invoiced income by type
Year ended

29 February 
2024

£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Software 1,721,993 1,346,110

Hardware 41,389 38,355

Services internal 31,517 28,454

Services external 28,103 26,395

1,823,002 1,439,314

Gross invoiced income 1,823,002 1,439,314

Adjustment to gross invoiced income for income recognised as agent (1,615,981) (1,254,893)

Revenue 207,021 184,421

Gross invoiced income reflects gross income billed to customers adjusted for deferred and accrued revenue items 
amounting to £8.5 million (2023: £5.5 million). The Group reports gross invoiced income as an alternative financial KPI 
as management believes this measure allows further understanding of business performance and position particularly 
in respect of working capital and cash flow.
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4	 Material profit or loss items 

The Group has identified several items included within administrative expenses which are material due to the significance of 
their nature and/or amount. These are listed separately here to provide a better understanding of the financial performance 
of the Group: 

Note

Year ended
29 February 

2024
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9 1,236 1,029

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 10 263 145

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 3

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 11 880 1,306

System support and maintenance 3,872 2,991

Share-based payment expenses 27 5,708 4,188

Expense relating to short-term leases 10 250 25

Foreign exchange losses/(gains) 137 (32)

5	 Employees

Employee benefit expense: Note

Year ended
29 February 

2024
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Employee remuneration (including directors’ remuneration1) 49,791 40,725

Commissions and bonuses 21,623 22,299

Social security costs 9,479 8,158

Pension costs 1,794 1,413

Share-based payments expense 27 5,708 4,188

88,395 76,783

Classified as follows:

Cost of sales 17,211 13,527

Administrative expenses 71,184 63,256

88,395 76,783

1	 Directors’ remuneration is included in the directors’ remuneration report on pages 102 to 127.

The average monthly number of employees during the year was:

Year ended
29 February 

2024
Number

Year ended 
28 February 

2023
Number

Sales – account management 335 285

Sales – support and specialists 228 199

Service delivery 263 204

Administration 202 173

1,028 861

The employee benefit expenses in relation to the service delivery employees are included within cost of sales.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

6	 Auditors’ remuneration

During the year, the Group obtained the following services from the company’s auditors and its associates:

Year ended
29 February 

2024
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Fees payable to the company’s auditors and its associates for the audit of the parent 
company and consolidated financial statements 268 281

Fees payable to the company’s auditors and its associates for other services:

Audit of the financial statements of the company’s subsidiaries 398 372

Other fees 420 14

Non-audit services1 101 95

1,187 762

1	� Non-audit services in the current and prior year relate to the auditors’ review of our interim report issued in October 2023 (28 February 2023: October 2022). 

7	 Finance income and costs
Year ended

29 February 
2024

£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Finance income

Bank interest received1 5,111 –

Finance income 5,111 –

Finance costs

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (330) (443)

Interest expense on lease liability (63) (48)

Finance costs (393) (491)

1	 I�nterest received on cash deposited on money market.

8	 Income tax expense

The major components of the Group’s income tax expense for all periods are:

Year ended
29 February 

2024
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Current income tax charge in the year 15,892 10,483

Adjustment in respect of current income tax of previous years (85) 66

Total current income tax charge 15,807 10,549

Current year (1,109) (402)

Adjustments in respect of prior year 70 (75)

Effect of changes in tax rates (23) (101)

Deferred tax credit (1,062) (578)

Total tax charge 14,745 9,971
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Reconciliation of total tax charge

The tax assessed for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK applied to profit before tax:

Year ended
29 February 

2024
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Profit before income tax 61,596 50,392

Income tax charge at the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 24.49% (2023: 19%)1 15,085 9,574

Effects of:

Non-deductible expenses (261) 507

Adjustment to previous periods (15) (9)

Effect of changes in tax rate (23) (101)

Effect of share of profit of associate (41) –

Income tax charge reported in profit or loss 14,745 9,971

1	 Prorated rate for change in the tax rate from 19% to 25% on 1 April 2023.

Amounts recognised directly in equity

Year ended
29 February 

2024
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period and not 
recognised in net profit or loss or other comprehensive income but directly  
credited/(charged) to equity:

Deferred tax: share-based payments 407 (24)

Current tax: share-based payments 491 –

898 (24)

Deferred tax asset/(liabilities)

As at 
29 February 

2024
£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to: 

Intangible assets (788) (1,008)

Property, plant and equipment (1,059) (884)

Employee benefits 1 3

Provisions 73 65

Share-based payments 2,607 1,189

834 (635)

Deferred tax asset/(liabilities)

As at 
29 February 

2024
£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

At 1 March (635) (1,189)

Credited to profit or loss 1,062 578

Credit/(charge) to equity 407 (24)

Carrying amount at end of year 834 (635)

The deferred tax asset and deferred tax liabilities carrying amounts at the end of the year are set off as they arise in the same 
jurisdiction and as such there is a legally enforceable right to offset.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

9	 Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land 
and buildings

£’000

Computer 
equipment 

£’000

Furniture, fittings 
and equipment

£’000

Computer 
software

£’000

Motor 
vehicles

£’000
Total

£’000

Cost

At 1 March 2022 8,921 3,875 1,305 746 101 14,948

Additions 484 590 8 271 10 1,363

Disposals – (126) – – (7) (133)

At 28 February 2023 9,405 4,339 1,313 1,017 104 16,178

Additions 373 692 11 249 9 1,334

Disposals – (25) – – (27) (52)

At 29 February 2024 9,778 5,006 1,324 1,266 86 17,460

Depreciation

At 1 March 2022 2,143 3,083 989 626 58 6,899

On disposals – (122) – – (8) (130)

Charge for the year 373 508 54 72 22 1,029

At 28 February 2023 2,516 3,469 1,043 698 72 7,798

On disposals – (25) – – (27) (52)

Charge for the year 421 584 51 163 17 1,236

At 29 February 2024 2,937 4,028 1,094 861 62 8,982

Net book value

At 28 February 2023 6,889 870 270 319 32 8,380

At 29 February 2024 6,841 978 230 405 24 8,478

10	 Leases

(i)	 Amounts recognised in the balance sheet 

Right-of-use assets
Buildings

£’000
Motor vehicles

£’000
Total

£’000

Cost

At 1 March 2022 and 28 February 2023 1,377 245 1,622

Additions – 891 891

Disposals – (245) (245)

At 29 February 2024 1,377 891 2,268

Depreciation

At 1 March 2022 449 245 694

Charge for the year 145 – 145

At 28 February 2023 594 245 839

Disposals – (245) (245)

Charge for the period 144 119 263

At 29 February 2024 738 119 857

Net book value

At 1 March 2022 928 – 928

At 28 February 2023 783 – 783

At 29 February 2024 639 772 1,411
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Lease liabilities

As at
29 February

2024
£’000

As at
28 February

2023
£’000

As at
1 March 

2022 
£’000

Current 423 75 185

Non-current 1,314 917 992

1,737 992 1,177

There were additions of £0.9 million to the right-of-use assets in the financial year ended 29 February 2024 (financial 
year ended 28 February 2023: £Nil).

(ii)	 Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss
The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Year ended 
29 February 

2024
£’000

Year ended 
28 February

2023
£’000

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 263 145

Interest expense (included in finance cost) 63 48

Expense relating to short-term leases (included in administrative expenses) 250 25

(iii)	 Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
As at

1 March 
2023

£’000
Additions

£’000
Cash flows

£’000
Interest

£’000

As at
29 February 

2024
£’000

Lease liabilities 992 891 (209) 63 1,737

Total liabilities from financing activities 992 891 (209) 63 1,737

As at
1 March 

2022
£’000

Additions
£’000

Cash flows
£’000

Interest
£’000

As at
28 February 

2023
£’000

Lease liabilities 1,177 – (233) 48 992

Total liabilities from financing activities 1,177 – (233) 48 992

11	 Intangible assets

Goodwill
£’000

Customer 
relationships

£’000
Brand
£’000

Total
£’000

Cost

At 1 March 2022, 28 February 2023 and 
29 February 2024 37,493 8,798 3,653 49,944

Amortisation

At 1 March 2022 – 3,887 3,225 7,112

Charge for the year – 878 428 1,306

At 28 February 2023 – 4,765 3,653 8,418

Charge for the year – 880 – 880

At 29 February 2024 – 5,645 3,653 9,298

Net book value

At 28 February 2023 37,493 4,033 – 41,526

At 29 February 2024 37,493 3,153 – 40,646
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

11	 Intangible assets continued

Determination of recoverable amount 

The carrying value of indefinite useful life intangible assets and goodwill are tested annually for impairment. For each CGU 
and for all periods presented, the Group has assessed that the value in use represents the recoverable amount. The future 
expected cash flows used in the value-in-use models are based on management forecasts, over a five-year period, and 
thereafter a reasonable rate of growth is applied based on current market conditions. The recoverable amount of Bytes 
Software Services and Phoenix Software is £737.3 million and £306.8 million respectively. For the purpose of impairment 
assessments of goodwill, the goodwill balance is allocated to the operating units which represent the lowest level within the 
Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

A summary of the goodwill per CGU, as well as assumptions applied for impairment assessment purposes, is presented below:

29 February 2024 

Long-term 
growth rate

%
Discount rate

%

Goodwill 
carrying amount

£’000

Bytes Software Services 2 9.15 14,775

Phoenix Software 2 9.15 22,718

37,493

28 February 2023 

Long-term 
growth rate

%
Discount rate

%

Goodwill 
carrying amount

£’000

Bytes Software Services 2 9.10 14,775

Phoenix Software 2 9.10 22,718

37,493

Growth rates
The Group used what it considers to be a conservative growth rate of 2% which was applied beyond the approved budget 
periods. The growth rate was consistent with publicly available information relating to long-term average growth rates for the 
market in which the respective CGU operated.

Discount rates
Discount rates used reflect both time value of money and other specific risks relating to the relevant CGU. Pre-tax discount 
rates have been applied. 

Sensitivities
The impacts of variations in the calculation of value-in-use of assumed growth rate and pre-tax discount rates applied to the 
estimated future cash flows of the CGUs have been estimated as follows:

29 February 2024

Bytes Software 
Services

£’000

Phoenix 
Software

£’000

Headroom 688,344 273,935

1% increase in the pre-tax discount rate applied to the estimated future cash flows (97,592) (38,628)

1% decrease in the pre-tax discount rate applied to the estimated future cash flows 129,792 51,351

0.5% increase in the terminal growth rate 46,379 18,323

0.5% decrease in the terminal growth rate (40,316) (15,928)

28 February 2023

Bytes Software 
Services

£’000

Phoenix 
Software

£’000

Headroom 675,427 229,245

1% increase in the pre-tax discount rate applied to the estimated future cash flows (94,815) (32,956)

1% decrease in the pre-tax discount rate applied to the estimated future cash flows 126,339 43,885

0.5% increase in the terminal growth rate 45,179 15,660

0.5% decrease in the terminal growth rate (39,234) (13,599)

None of the above sensitivities, taken either in isolation or aggregated, indicates a potential impairment. The directors 
consider that there is no reasonable possible change in the assumptions used in the sensitivities that would result in an 
impairment of goodwill.
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12	 Investment in an associate

With effect from 18 April 2023 the Group acquired 25.1% interest in Cloud Bridge Technologies Limited for £3.0 million, 
settled in cash. The Group’s interest in Cloud Bridge Technologies Limited is accounted for using the equity method. 

As at
29 February

2024
£’000

Current assets 8,302

Non-current assets 123

Current liabilities (6,078)

Non-current liabilities (11)

Equity 2,336

Group’s share in equity – 25.1% 586

Goodwill 2,607

Group’s carrying amount of the investment 3,193

Acquisition to 
29 February

2024
£’000

Revenue 13,857

Cost of sales (11,789)

Administrative expenses (1,171)

Finance costs (6)

Profit before tax 885

Income tax expense (222)

Profit for the period 663

Group’s share of profit for the period 166

The associate requires the Group’s consent to distribute its profits. The Group does not foresee giving such consent 
at the reporting date.

The associate had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 29 February 2024. 

13	 Contract assets
As at 

29 February 
2024 

£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Contract assets 14,445 11,081

Contract assets is further broken down as:

As at 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Short-term contract assets 11,756 10,684

Long-term contract assets 2,689 397

14,445 11,081

Contract assets include £2.4 million (2023: £3.8 million) of deferred costs relating to internal services contracts, and the 
recognition of accrued revenue of £12.0 million (2023: £7.3 million) for certain large software orders where performance 
obligations were satisfied in the period but not yet invoiced to the customer at the period end.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

14	 Contract liabilities
As at 

29 February 
2024 

£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Contract liabilities 21,485 25,890

Contract liabilities is further broken down as:

As at 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Short-term contract liabilities 19,348 23,914

Long-term contract liabilities 2,137 1,976

21,485 25,890

During the year, the Group recognised £23.9 million (2023: £14.5 million) of revenue that was included in the contract liability 
balance at the beginning of the period. This liability arises where revenue has been deferred when the customer is invoiced 
before the related performance obligations of the contract are satisfied, and the deferral of certain large payments received 
in advance from customers.

15	 Inventories
As at 

29 February 
2024 

£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Inventories 60 58

60 58

Inventories include asset management subscription licences purchased in advance for a specific customer that as yet 
haven’t been consumed. 

Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales during the year amounted to £nil (28 February 2023: £38,000). 

16	 Financial assets and financial liabilities

This note provides information about the Group’s financial instruments, including:

•	•	 An overview of all financial instruments held by the Group
•	•	 Specific information about each type of financial instrument
•	•	 Accounting policies
•	•	 Information about determining the fair value of the instruments, including judgements and estimation 

uncertainty involved.

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

Financial assets Note

As at 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Financial assets at amortised cost:

Trade receivables 17 212,432 178,386

Other receivables 17 7,415 5,896

219,847 184,282

Financial liabilities Note

As at 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

Trade and other payables – current, excluding payroll tax and 
other statutory tax liabilities 19 259,661 217,253

Lease liabilities 10 1,737 992

261,398 218,245

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments is discussed in note 23. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of financial assets mentioned above.
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17	 Trade and other receivables
As at 

29 February 
2024 

£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Financial assets
Gross trade receivables 214,922 179,928
Less: impairment allowance (2,490) (1,542)

Net trade receivables 212,432 178,386

Other receivables 7,415 5,896

219,847 184,282

Non-financial assets 
Prepayments 1,968 1,638

1,968 1,638

Trade and other receivables 221,815 185,920

(i)	 Classification of trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. 
They are generally due for settlement within 30 days and are therefore all classified as current. Trade receivables are 
recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional, unless they contain significant financing 
components, in which case they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective of 
collecting the contractual cash flows, and so it measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Details about the Group’s impairment policies are provided in note 1.19. 

(ii)	 Fair values of trade receivables
Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.

(iii)	 Credit risk
Ageing and impairment analysis (excluding finance lease assets)

29 February 2024 
Current

£’000

Past due 
0 to 30 days

£’000

Past due 
31 to 60 days

£’000

Past due 
61 to 120 days

£’000

Past due 
121 to 365 days

£’000
Total

£’000

Expected loss rate 0.07% 0.41% 4.16% 7.62% 80.02%

Gross carrying amount 
– trade receivables 180,289 23,688 4,994 3,744 2,207 214,922

Loss allowance 134 97 208 285 1,766 2,490

28 February 2023 
Current

£’000

Past due 
0 to 30 days

£’000

Past due 
31 to 60 days

£’000

Past due 
61 to 120 days

£’000

Past due 
121 to 365 days

£’000
Total

£’000

Expected loss rate 0.09% 0.55% 6.39% 16.34% 92.68% 

Gross carrying amount 
– trade receivables 145,832 25,343 6,760 1,310 683 179,928

Loss allowance 124 139 432 214 633 1,542

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

Trade receivables

As at 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Opening loss allowance at 1 March 1,542 750

Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the period 1,227 937

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable (279) (145)

Closing loss allowance 2,490 1,542

Trade receivables are written off where there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery include, among others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a 
failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 120 days past due.
Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.

(iv)	 Other receivables
Other receivables include accrued rebate income.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

18	 Cash and cash equivalents
As at 

29 February 
2024 

£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Cash at bank and in hand 88,836 73,019

88,836 73,019

19	 Trade and other payables
As at 

29 February 
2024 

£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Trade and other payables 168,777 138,307

Accrued expenses 90,884 78,946

Payroll tax and other statutory liabilities 18,256 14,464

277,917 231,717

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 45 days of recognition. Accrued expenses includes accruals for 
purchase invoices not received and other accrued costs such as bonuses and commissions payable at year end, and costs 
in relation to the investigation around undisclosed share dealings as set out on pages 69 and 70. 

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature.

20	 Share capital and share premium

Allotted, called up and fully paid 
Number of 

shares
Nominal value

£’000
Share premium

£’000
Total 

£’000

At 1 March 2022 and 28 February 20231 239,482,333 2,395 633,636 636,031

Shares issued during the year 874,565 9 14 23

At 29 February 20242, 3 240,356,898 2,404 633,650 636,054

1	� Shares issued during the prior year 
During the prior year no new ordinary shares were issued by the company.

2	� Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares have a nominal value of £0.01. All ordinary shares in issue rank pari passu and carry the same voting rights and entitlement to receive dividends and other 
distributions declared or paid by the Group. The company does not have a limited amount of authorised share capital. 

3	� Share options 
Information related to the company’s share option schemes, including options issued during the financial year and options outstanding at the end of the reporting period 
is set out in note 27. 

21	 Merger reserve
Year ended 

29 February 
2024 

£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Balance at 1 March 2022, 28 February 2023 and 29 February 2024 (644,375) (644,375)

(644,375) (644,375)

The merger reserve of £644.4 million arose in December 2019, on the date that the Group demerged from its previous parent 
company. This is an accounting reserve in equity representing the difference between the total nominal value of the issued 
share capital acquired in Bytes Technology Limited of £1.10 and the total consideration given of £644.4 million.
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22	 Cash generated from operations

Note

Year ended 
29 February

2024
£’000

Year ended 
28 February

2023
£’000

Profit before taxation 61,596 50,392

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 4 2,379 2,480

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4 – 3

Non-cash employee benefits expense – share-based payments 4 5,708 4,188

Share of profit of associate (166) –

Finance income 7 (5,111) –

Finance costs 7 393 491

Increase in contract assets (3,364) (4,365)

Increase in trade and other receivables (35,895) (28,310)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (2) 38

Increase in trade and other payables 46,200 14,105

(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (4,405) 9,867

Cash generated from operations 67,333 48,889

23	 Financial risk management

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks and how these risks could affect the Group’s future financial 
performance. Current year consolidated profit or loss and statement of financial position information has been included 
where relevant to add further context.

Management monitors the liquidity and cash flow risk of the Group carefully. Cash flow is monitored by management on a 
regular basis and any working capital requirement is funded by cash resources or access to the revolving credit facility.

The main financial risks arising from the Group’s activities are credit, liquidity and currency risks. The Group’s policy in 
respect of credit risk is to require appropriate credit checks on potential customers before sales are made. The Group’s 
approach to credit risk is disclosed in note 17.

The Group’s policy in respect of liquidity risk is to maintain readily accessible bank deposit accounts to ensure that the 
company has sufficient funds for its operations. The cash deposits are held in a mixture of short-term deposits and current 
accounts which earn interest at a floating rate.

The Group’s policy in respect of currency risk, which primarily exists as a result of foreign currency purchases, is to either sell 
in the currency of purchase, maintain sufficient cash reserves in the appropriate foreign currencies which can be used to 
meet foreign currency liabilities, or take out forward currency contracts to cover the exposure. 

23(a)	Derivatives
Derivatives are only used for economic hedging purposes and not speculative investments. 

The Group has taken out forward currency contracts during the periods presented but has not recognised either a forward 
currency asset or liability at each period end as the fair value of the foreign currency forwards is considered to be immaterial 
to the consolidated financial statements due to the low volume and short-term nature of the contracts. Similarly, the amounts 
recognised in profit or loss in relation to derivatives were considered immaterial to disclose separately.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

23	 Financial risk management continued

23(b)	Foreign exchange risk
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, was as follows:

As at 29 February 2024 As at 28 February 2023

USD 
£’000

EUR 
£’000

NOK 
£’000

USD 
£’000

EUR 
£’000

NOK 
£’000

Trade receivables 10,247 2,661 – 13,529 1,900 –

Cash and cash 
equivalents 176 1,647 – 250 214 –

Trade payables (16,640) (4,253) (580) (15,286) (1,981) (221)

(6,217) 55 (580) (1,507) 133 (221)

The following table demonstrates the profit before tax sensitivity to a possible change in the currency exchange rates with 
GBP, all other variables held constant.

As at 29 February 2024 As at 28 February 2023

GBP:USD 
£’000

GBP:EUR 
£’000

GBP:NOK 
£’000

GBP:USD 
£’000

GBP:EUR 
£’000

GBP:NOK 
£’000

5% increase in rate 296 (3) 28 72 (6) 11

5% decrease in rate (327) 3 (31) (79) 7 (12)

The aggregate net foreign exchange gains/losses recognised in profit or loss were:

Year ended 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Total net foreign exchange losses/(gains) in profit or loss 137 (32)

23(c)	Liquidity risk

(1)	 Cash management 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash to meet obligations when due. The Group generates 
positive cash flows from operating activities and these fund short-term working capital requirements. The Group aims to 
maintain significant cash reserves and none of its cash reserves is subject to restrictions. Access to cash is not restricted and 
all cash balances could be drawn on immediately if required. Management monitors the levels of cash deposits carefully and 
is comfortable that for normal operating requirements, no further external borrowings are currently required. 

At 29 February 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of £88.8 million, see note 18. Management monitors rolling 
forecasts of the Group’s liquidity position (which comprises its cash and cash equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flows 
generated from the Group’s operations. These forecasts are generally carried out at a local level in the operating companies 
of the Group in accordance with practice and limits set by the Group and take into account certain down-case scenarios. 

(2)	 Revolving Credit Facility 
On 17 May 2023 the Group entered into a new three-year committed Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) for £30 million including 
an optional one-year extension to 17 May 2027, and a non-committed £20 million accordion to increase the availability of 
funding should it be required for future activity. The new facility replaced the previous RCF which was entered into in 
December 2020 and was set to expire in December 2023 but was cancelled, without penalty, on 17 May 2023, on 
commencement of the new RCF. The new facility has incurred an arrangement fee of £0.1 million, being 0.4% of the new 
funds available. The Group has so far not drawn down any amount on either the previous or new facility and to the extent that 
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fees are capitalised as a 
prepayment and amortised over the initial three-year period of the facility. The facility also incurs a commitment fee and 
utilisation fee, both of which are payable quarterly in arrears. Under the terms of both the previous and new facilities, the 
Group is required to comply with the following financial covenants:

•	•	 Interest cover: EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation) to net finance charges for the past 
12 months shall be greater than 4.0 times

•	•	 Leverage: net debt to EBITDA for the past 12 months must not exceed 2.5 times. 

The Group has complied with these covenants throughout the reporting period. As at 29 February 2024, the Group had net 
finance income and has therefore complied with the interest cover covenant. The EBITDA to net finance charges in the prior 
year was approximately 109 times. The Group has been in a net cash position as at 29 February 2024 and 28 February 2023 
and has therefore complied with the Net debt to EBITDA covenant.
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(3)	 Contractual maturity of financial liabilities
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on undiscounted 
contractual payments:

29 February 2024 Note
Within 1 year

£’000
1 to 2 years 

£’000
2 to 5 years 

£’000
Over 5 years 

£’000

Total 
contractual 

cash flows 
£’000

Carrying 
amount

£’000

Trade and other payables 19 259,660 – – – 259,660 259,660

Lease liabilities 10 495 495 869 – 1,859 1,737

260,155 495 869 – 261,519 261,397

28 February 2023 Note
Within 1 year

£’000
1 to 2 years 

£’000
2 to 5 years 

£’000
Over 5 years 

£’000

Total 
contractual 

cash flows 
£’000

Carrying 
amount

£’000

Trade and other payables 19 217,253 – – – 217,253 217,253

Lease liabilities 10 116 463 545 – 1,124 992

217,369 463 545 – 218,377 218,245

24	 Capital management 

24(a)	Risk management
For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued capital, ordinary shares, share premium and all 
other equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the parent. The primary objective of the Group’s capital 
management is to maximise shareholder value. 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
requirements of shareholders. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. To ensure an appropriate return for shareholders’ capital 
invested in the Group, management thoroughly evaluates all material revenue streams, relationships with key vendors and 
potential acquisitions and approves them by the Board, where applicable. The Group’s dividend policy is based on the 
profitability of the business and underlying growth in earnings of the Group, as well as its capital requirements and cash 
flows. The Group’s dividend policy is to distribute 40% of the Group’s post-tax pre-exceptional earnings to shareholders in 
respect of each financial year. Subject to any cash requirements for ongoing investment, the Board will consider returning 
excess cash to shareholders over time.

24(b)	Dividends
2024 2023

Pence per share £’000 Pence per share £’000

Interim dividend paid 2.70 6,466 2.40 5,748

Special dividend paid 7.50 17,961 6.20 14,848

Final dividend paid 5.10 12,214 4.20 10,058

Total dividends attributable 
to ordinary shareholders 15.30 36,641 12.80 30,654

Dividends per share is calculated by dividing the dividend paid by the number of ordinary shares in issue. Dividends are paid 
out of available distributable reserves of the company.

The Board has proposed a final ordinary dividend of 6.0 pence and a special dividend of 8.7 pence per share for the 
year ended 29 February 2024 to be paid to shareholders on the register as at 19 July 2024. The aggregate of the proposed 
dividends expected to be paid on 2 August 2024 is £35.3 million. The proposed dividends per ordinary shares are subject 
to approval at the Annual General Meeting and are not recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial statements. 

25	 Capital commitments 

At 29 February 2024, the Group had £Nil capital commitments (28 February 2023: £Nil).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

26	 Related-party transactions
In the ordinary course of business, the Group carries out transactions with related parties, as defined by IAS 24 Related Party 
Disclosures. Apart from those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, material transactions for the 
year are set out below:

26(a)	Transactions with key management personnel
Key management personnel are defined as the directors (both executive and non-executive) of Bytes Technology Group plc, 
Bytes Software Services Limited and Phoenix Software Limited. Details of the compensation paid to the directors of Bytes 
Technology Group plc as well as their shareholdings in the Group are disclosed in the remuneration report.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
The remuneration of key management personnel, which consists of persons who have been deemed to be discharging 
managerial responsibilities, is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

Year ended 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Short-term employee benefits 3,653 4,158
Post-employment pension benefits 97 92

Total compensation paid to key management 3,750 4,250

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting period related to key 
management personnel including executive directors.
Key management personnel received a total of 170,360 share option awards (2023: 565,782) at a weighted average exercise 
price of £0.04 (2023: £1.33).
Share-based payment charges include £1,257,326 (2023: £1,006,423) in respect of key management personnel, refer to 
note 27 for details on the Group’s share-based payment incentive schemes.

26(b)	Subsidiaries and associates
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 29 and the investment in associate is set out in note 12.

26(c)	Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of services
Group companies made purchases from the associate of £3.1 million during the year with a trade payable balance of 
£0.5 million at year end.

27	 Share-based payments
The Group accounts for its share option awards as equity-settled share-based payments. The fair value of the awards granted is 
recognised as an expense over the vesting period. The amount recognised in the share-based payment reserve will be reversed to 
retained earnings as and when the related awards vest and are exercised by employees. As noted in the prior year Annual Report 
one-third of the annual bonus for the financial year ended 29 February 2024 awarded to each of the Company’s executive directors is 
deferred in shares for two years. This deferral has resulted in the granting of the awards under the Deferred Bonus Plan during the year.

Performance Incentive Share Plan
Options granted under the Performance Incentive Share Plan (PISP) are for shares in Bytes Technology Group plc. The exercise price 
of the options is a nominal amount of £0.01. Performance conditions attached to the awards granted in the current year are employee 
specific, in addition to which, options will only vest if certain employment conditions are met. The fair value of the share options is 
estimated at the grant date using a Monte Carlo option pricing model for the element with market conditions and Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model for non-market conditions. The normal vesting date shall be no earlier than the third anniversary of the grant 
date and not later than the day before the tenth anniversary of the grant date. There is no cash settlement of the options available 
under the scheme. During the year the Group granted 1,195,700 (2023: 552,480) options. For the year ended 29 February 2024, 
298,561 (2023: 30,589) options were forfeited, 819,416 options were exercised (2023: nil) and no options expired.

Company Share Option Plan
Options granted under the Company Share Option Plan (CSOP) are for shares in Bytes Technology Group plc. The exercise price of 
the options granted in the current year was determined by the average of the last three dealing days prior to the date of grant. There 
are no performance conditions attached to the awards, but options will only vest if certain employment conditions are met. The fair 
value at grant date is estimated at the grant date using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The normal vesting date shall be no 
earlier than the third anniversary of the grant date and not later than the day before the tenth anniversary of the grant date. There is 
no cash settlement of the options available under the scheme. During the year the Group granted no (2023: 2,904,100) options. 
For the year ended 29 February 2024, 176,600 (2023: 127,400) options were forfeited, and no options were exercised or expired. 

Save as You Earn Scheme
Share options were granted to eligible employees under the Save As You Earn Scheme (SAYE) during the year. Under the SAYE 
scheme, employees enter a three-year savings contract in which they save a fixed amount each month in return for their SAYE 
options. At the end of the three-year period, employees can either exercise their options in exchange for shares in Bytes Technology 
Group plc or have their savings returned to them in full. The exercise price of the options represents a 20% discount to the exercise 
price of the CSOP awards. The fair value at grant date is estimated using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. There is no cash 
settlement of the options. During the year the Group granted 337,890 (2023: 722,863) options. For the year ended 29 February 
2024, 213,832 (2023: 523,974) options were forfeited, 3,625 (2023: nil) options were exercised and no options expired.
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Deferred Bonus Plan
Options granted under the Deferred Bonus Plan (DBP) are for shares in Bytes Technology Group plc. The exercise price of 
the options is a nominal amount of £0.01. There are no performance conditions attached to the awards, but options will only 
vest if certain employment conditions are met. The fair value at grant date is estimated at the grant date using a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. The normal vesting date shall be no earlier than the second anniversary of the grant date. 
During the year the Group granted 45,365 (2023: 35,842) options. For the year ended 29 February 2024, 50,526 (2023: nil) 
options were forfeited and no options were exercised or expired. 

Share-based payment employee expenses 
Year ended 

29 February 
2024 

£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Equity settled share-based payment expenses 5,708 4,188

There were no cancellations or modifications to the awards in 2024 or 2023.

Movements during the year
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options 
during the year:

29 February 
2024

Number

29 February 
2024

WAEP

28 February 
2023

Number 

28 February 
2023

WAEP

Outstanding at 1 March 8,760,684 £3.59 5,227,362 £3.43

Granted during the year 1,666,660 £0.80 4,215,285 £3.84

Forfeited during the year (739,519) £2.28 (681,963) £3.98

Exercised during the year (874,565)1 £0.03 – –

Outstanding at 29 February 8,813,260 £3.52 8,760,684 £3.59

Exercisable at 29 February 609,272 £0.01 – –

1	 The weighted average share price at date of exercise was £5.85.

The weighted average expected remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding at 29 February 2024 was 2.2 
years (2023: 2.9 years).
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was £4.21 (2023: £1.63).
The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was £0.01 to £5.00 (2023: £0.01 to £5.00). 
The tables below list the inputs to the models used for the awards granted under the below plans for the years ended 
29 February 2024 and 28 February 2023:

Assumptions

29 February 
2024
PISP

29 February 
2024
SAYE 

29 February 
2024
DBP

Weighted average fair value at measurement date £4.86 £1.79 £5.15

Expected dividend yield 1.53% 1.53% 0.00%

Expected volatility 31% 30% 30%

Risk-free interest rate 4.29% 4.79% 4.44%

Expected life of options 3 years 3 years 2 years

Weighted average share price £5.16 £5.11 £5.16

Model used Black-Scholes 
and Monte Carlo

Black-Scholes Black-Scholes

Assumptions

28 February 
2023
PISP 

28 February 
2023

CSOP

28 February 
2023
SAYE 

28 February 
2023
DBP

Weighted average fair value at measurement date £4.06 £1.20 £1.38 £4.52

Expected dividend yield 1.52% 1.52% 1.54% 0.00%

Expected volatility 37% 34% 37% 35%

Risk-free interest rate 1.59% 1.72% 1.59% 1.53%

Expected life of options 3 years 5 years 3 years 2 years

Weighted average share price £4.53 £4.53 £4.48 £4.53

Model used Black-Scholes 
and Monte Carlo

Black-Scholes Black-Scholes Black-Scholes

The expected life of the options is based on current expectations and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that 
may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility of the company and publicly quoted 
companies in a similar sector to the company over a period similar to the life of the options is indicative of future trends, which 
may not necessarily be the actual outcome. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

28	 Earnings per share

The Group calculates earnings per share (EPS) on several different bases in accordance with IFRS and prevailing South 
Africa requirements. 

Year ended 
29 February 

2024 
pence

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
pence

Basic earnings per share 19.55 16.88

Diluted earnings per share 18.85 16.28

Headline earnings per share 19.55 16.88

Diluted headline earnings per share 18.85 16.28

Adjusted earnings per share 21.78 18.83

Diluted adjusted earnings per share 21.01 18.16

28(a)	Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator
Year ended 

29 February 
2024 

Number

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator 
in calculating basic earnings per share and headline earnings per share 239,693,670 239,482,333

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share and diluted 
headline earnings per share: 

	փ share options1 8,813,260 8,760,684

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares 
used as the denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share and 
diluted headline earnings per share 248,506,930 248,243,017

1	 Share options 
	� Share options granted to employees under the Save As You Earn Scheme, Company Share Option Plan and Bytes Technology Group plc performance incentive share 

plan are considered to be potential ordinary shares. They have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share on the basis that all employees are 
employed at the reporting date, and to the extent that they are dilutive. The options have not been included in the determination of basic earnings per share. Details 
relating to the share options are disclosed in note 27.

28(b)	Headline earnings per share
The Group is required to calculate headline earnings per share (HEPS) in accordance with the JSE Listing Requirements. The 
table below reconciles the profits attributable to ordinary shareholders to headline earnings and summarises the calculation 
of basic and diluted HEPS:

Note

Year ended 
29 February

2024
pence

Year ended 
28 February

2023
pence

Profit for the period attributable to owners of the company 46,851 40,421

Adjusted for:

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4 – 3

Tax effect thereon – (1)

Headline profits attributable to owners of the company 46,851 40,423
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28(c)	Adjusted earnings per share
Adjusted earnings per share is a Group key alternative performance measure which is consistent with the way that financial 
performance is measured by senior management of the Group. It is calculated by dividing the adjusted operating profit 
attributable to ordinary shareholders by the total number of ordinary shares in issue at the end of the year. Adjusted operating 
profit is calculated to reflect the underlying long-term performance of the Group by excluding the impact of the following items:

•	•	 Share-based payment charges

•	•	 Acquired intangible assets amortisation.

The table below reconciles the profit for the financial year to adjusted earnings and summarises the calculation of adjusted EPS:

Note

Year ended 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023
£’000

Profits attributable to owners of the company 46,851 40,421

Adjusted for:

	փ Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 4 880 1,306

	փ Deferred tax effect on above (220) (301)

	փ Share-based payment charges 27 5,708 4,188

	փ Deferred tax effect on above (1,011) (522)

Adjusted profits attributable to owners of the company 52,208 45,092

29	 Subsidiaries

The Group’s subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements are set out below. The country of incorporation is 
also their principal place of business.

Name of entity
Country of 
incorporation

Ownership 
interest Principal activities

Bytes Technology Holdco Limited1 UK 100% Holding company

Bytes Technology Limited UK 100% Holding company

Bytes Software Services Limited UK 100% Providing cloud-based licensing and infrastructure and security 
sales within both the corporate and public sectors

Phoenix Software limited UK 100% Providing cloud-based licensing and infrastructure and security 
sales within both the corporate and public sectors

Blenheim Group Limited2 UK 100% Dormant for all periods 

License Dashboard Limited2 UK 100% Dormant for all periods

Bytes Security Partnerships Limited2 UK 100% Dormant for all periods

Bytes Technology Group Holdings Limited2 UK 100% Dormant for all periods 

Bytes Technology Training Limited2 UK 100% Dormant for all periods

Elastabytes Limited UK 50% Deregistered. Dormant in prior periods

1	 Bytes Technology Holdco Limited is held directly by the company. All other subsidiary undertakings are held indirectly by the company.
2	 Taken advantage of the audit exemption set out within section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended 29 February 2024. 

The registered address of all of the Group subsidiaries included above is Bytes House, Randalls Way, Leatherhead, 
Surrey, KT22 7TW. 

30	 Events after the reporting period

On 9 May 2024 a settlement agreement was reached between the company and Neil Murphy, it’s former CEO, following his 
resignation on 21 February 2024 in accordance with the terms of his service contract and the directors’ remuneration policy. 
Full details can be found on page 122 of the directors’ remuneration report. 
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Note

As at 
29 February

2024
£’000

As at 
28 February

2023 
£’000

Assets

Non-current assets

Investments 5 641,998 641,998

Property, plant and equipment 6 121 187

Deferred tax assets 4 141 25

Total non-current assets 642,260 642,210

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 7 12,884 20,000

Cash and cash equivalents 40,421 27,913

Total current assets 53,305 47,913

Total assets 695,565 690,123

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 8 (7,860) (11,446)

Current tax liability (157) –

Total current liabilities (8,017) (11,446)

Total liabilities (8,017) (11,446)

Net assets 687,548 678,677

Equity

Share capital 10 2,404 2,395

Share premium 10 633,650 633,636

Share-based payment reserves 9,969 7,052

Retained earnings1 41,525 35,594

Total equity 687,548 678,677

1	 The profit for the company for the period was £39,781,000 (2023: £32,477,000).

The financial statements on pages 182 to 191 were approved by the Board on 22 May 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

	

Sam Mudd	 Andrew Holden 
Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Financial Officer

Parent company financial statements of 
Bytes Technology Group plc
Company balance sheet
As at 29 February 2024
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Note

Attributable to owners of the company

Share 
capital

£’000

Share 
premium

£’000

Share-based 
payment 

reserve
£’000

Retained
earnings

£’000
Total

£’000

At 1 March 2022 2,395 633,636 2,864 33,771 672,666

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 32,477 32,477

Dividends paid – – – (30,654) (30,654)

Share-based payment transactions – – 4,188 – 4,188

Balance at 28 February 2023 2,395 633,636 7,052 35,594 678,677

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 39,781 39,781

Dividends paid – – – (36,641) (36,641)

Shares issued during the year 10 9 14 – – 23

Transfer to retained earnings – – (2,791) 2,791 – 

Share-based payment transactions – – 5,708 – 5,708 

Balance at 29 February 2024 2,404 633,650 9,969 41,525 687,548

Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 29 February 2024
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Notes to the financial statements

1	 Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied are 
summarised below.

1.1	� Authorisation of financial statements and statement 
of compliance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 
Reduced Disclosure Framework (FRS 101)
The financial statements of Bytes Technology Group plc 
for the period ended 29 February 2024 were approved 
and signed by the Chief Executive Officer on 22 May 2024 
having been duly authorised to do so by the Board. The 
company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under 
Financial Reporting Standard 100 Application of Financial 
Reporting Requirements (FRS 100) issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly, these financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 
101 and in accordance with the provisions of the UK 
Companies Act 2006.

1.2	 Basis of preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 
Reduced Disclosure Framework (FRS 101) and the 
Companies Act 2006. The financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention.

Bytes Technology Group plc is a company incorporated in 
the UK under the Companies Act. The address of the 
registered office is provided on page 196. The company is 
the ultimate parent company and provides management 
services to subsidiary undertakings in respect of certain 
head office functions and requirements, which are 
recharged as the costs are incurred by the company. 

The company’s financial statements are included in the 
Bytes Technology Group plc consolidated financial 
statements for the period ended 29 February 2024. 

These financial statements are separate 
financial statements.

The company has taken advantage of the following 
disclosure exemptions in preparing these financial 
statements, as permitted by FRS 101:

•	•	 The requirements of IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments Disclosures

•	•	 The requirements of paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 
Fair Value Measurement

•	•	 The requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial Statements to present 
comparative information in respect of paragraph 
79(a)(iv) of IAS 1

•	•	 The requirement of paragraphs 10(d), 10(f), 16, 38A, 
38B, 38C, 38D, 40A, 40B, 40C, 40D, 111 and 134 to 
136 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

•	•	 The requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

•	•	 The requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors

•	•	 The requirements of paragraphs 17 and 18A of IAS 24 
Related Party Disclosures

•	•	 The requirements in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures 
to disclose related party transactions entered into 
between two or more members of a group, provided 
that any subsidiary which is a party to the transaction 
is wholly owned by such a member

•	•	 The requirements of paragraphs 130(f)(ii), 130(f)(iii), 
134(d) to 134(f) and 135(c) to 135(e) of IAS 36 
Impairment of Assets, provided that equivalent 
disclosures are included in the consolidated 
financial statements of the group in which the entity 
is consolidated

•	•	 The requirements of the second sentence of 
paragraph 110 and paragraphs 113(a), 114, 115, 118, 
119(a) to (c), 120 to 127 and 129 of IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers.

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the 
consolidated financial statements of Bytes Technology 
Group plc. As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies 
Act 2006, the income statement of the company is not 
presented as part of these financial statements.

1.3	 Going concern
The ability of the company to continue as a going concern 
is contingent on the ongoing viability of the Group and its 
ability to continue as a going concern. The Group has 
prepared its going concern assessment and this is 
provided in note 1.3 in the notes to the financial 
statements included in the Bytes Technology Group plc 
consolidated financial statements. Having assessed the 
Group’s overall assessment of going concern in relation to 
the company, the directors considered it appropriate to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing 
the company’s financial statements. 

1.4	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the 
use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will 
seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs 
to exercise judgement in applying the company’s 
accounting policies.

There are no major sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk 
of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year. In order to ensure no new sources are missed, 
estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
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The other areas involving accounting estimates are:

Impairment of investments
The investment in subsidiary’s are assessed annually to 
determine if there is any indication that the investment 
might be impaired. The recoverable amounts are 
determined based on a value-in-use calculation and 
compared to the carrying value of the investment. The 
value-in-use calculation is based on forecasts approved 
by management. The cash flows beyond the forecast 
period are extrapolated using estimated long-term growth 
rates. The forecast cash flows are discounted at the 
company’s discount rate. The assumptions used are 
consistent with those disclosed in note 11 to the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

1.5	 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 

(a)	� New and amended standards adopted by 
the company

The Group has applied the following standard or 
amendments for the first time in the annual reporting 
period commencing 1 March 2023: 

•	•	 Definition of Accounting Estimates – Amendments 
to IAS 8

•	•	 Disclosure of Accounting Policies – Amendments 
to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

•	•	 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 
from a Single Transaction – Amendments to IAS 12

•	•	 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules – 
Amendments to IAS 12

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on 
the amounts recognised in current or prior periods and 
are not expected to affect future periods.

(b)	 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations 
have been published that are not mandatory for 
29 February 2024 reporting periods and have not been 
adopted early by the company. These standards are not 
expected to have a material impact on the company in the 
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable 
future transactions.

1.6	 Investments 
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are included in the 
balance sheet at cost less any provision for impairment in 
value. The company assesses investments for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any 
such indication of impairment exists, the company makes 
an estimate of its recoverable amount. Where the carrying 
amount of an investment exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the investment is considered impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount. Where these circumstances 
have reversed, the impairment previously made is 
reversed to the extent of the original cost of the 
investment. 

1.7	 Functional and presentation currency 
The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling 
(£), which is the company’s functional and presentation 
currency. All transactions undertaken by the company 
are denominated in pounds sterling. 

1.8	 Revenue recognition 
The company provides management services to 
subsidiary undertakings which are invoiced quarterly 
in arrears. Revenue from providing such services is 
recognised in the accounting period in which the 
services are rendered on an over time basis. In 
measuring its performance and the amount of revenue 
to be recognised, the company applies an inputs basis 
by reference to the costs incurred by the company and 
the hours expended by management for providing 
services to the measurement date.

1.9	 Income tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax 
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on 
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted 
by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable 
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis 
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end 
of the reporting period in the UK. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where 
appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid 
to the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability 
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the financial statements. Deferred income tax is also not 
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred 
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that 
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of 
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise 
those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is 
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and 
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to 
the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and 
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally 
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on 
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this 
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, respectively. 
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Notes to the financial statements continued

1.10	 Property, plant and equipment

Owned assets
Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. When 
components of an item of property, plant and equipment 
have different useful lives, those components are 
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and 
equipment. Cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss for each 
category of assets on a straight-line basis over their 
expected useful lives up to their respective estimated 
residual values.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative 
periods are as follows:

•	•	 IT software, three years.

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values 
are reassessed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

1.11	 Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of 
consideration that is unconditional, i.e. fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less loss allowance. 
Prepayments and other receivables are stated at their 
nominal values.

1.12	 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with 
financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice 
of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly 
liquid investments that mature in no more than three 
months from the date of acquisition and that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value.

1.13	 Financial instruments 
Financial instruments comprise investments in equity, 
loans receivable, trade and other receivables (excluding 
prepayments), investments, cash and cash equivalents, 
current loans, and trade and other payables.

Recognition
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the 
company’s balance sheet when the company becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are classified as current if expected to be 
realised or settled within 12 months from the reporting 
date; if not, they are classified as non-current. Financial 
liabilities are classified as non-current if the company has 
an unconditional right to defer payment for more than 12 
months from the reporting date.

Classification
The company classifies financial assets on initial 
recognition as measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL) based on the company’s 
business model for managing the financial asset and the 
cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Financial assets are classified as follows:

•	•	 Financial assets to be measured subsequently at fair 
value (either through other comprehensive income 
(OCI) or through profit or loss) 

•	•	 Financial assets to be measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets are not reclassified unless the company 
changes its business model. In rare circumstances where 
the company does change its business model, 
reclassifications are done prospectively from the date that 
the company changes its business model.

Financial liabilities are classified and measured at 
amortised cost except for those derivative liabilities and 
contingent consideration that are measured at FVTPL.

Measurement on initial recognition
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value, including transaction costs, except 
for those classified as FVTPL which are initially measured 
at fair value excluding transaction costs. Transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or 
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement: financial assets
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets are 
measured as described below:

•	•	 FVTPL – these financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value and changes therein (including 
any interest or dividend income) are recognised in 
profit or loss

•	•	 Amortised cost – these financial assets are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less impairment losses. 
Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses 
and impairments are recognised in profit or loss. Any 
gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or 
loss

•	•	 Equity instruments at FVOCI – these financial assets 
are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends 
are recognised in profit or loss when the right to 
receive payment is established. Other net gains and 
losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, 
gains and losses accumulated in OCI are not 
reclassified to profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement: Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have 
been transferred and the company has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial 
liabilities are derecognised when the obligations specified 
in the contracts are discharged, cancelled or expire. On 
derecognition of a financial asset or liability, any 
difference between the carrying amount extinguished and 
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment 
The company assesses on a forward-looking basis the 
expected credit losses associated with its debt 
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment 
methodology applied depends on whether there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk. 

1.14	 Trade and other payables 
Trade payables, sundry creditors and accrued expenses 
are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been 
acquired in the ordinary course of business from 
suppliers. They are accounted for in accordance with the 
accounting policy for financial liabilities as included 
above. Other payables are stated at their nominal values.

1.15	 Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of 
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees 
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised 
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is 
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. 
In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawdown occurs. 
To the extent that there is no evidence that it is probable 
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is 
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and 
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates. 

1.16	 Employee benefits 

Short-term obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave, that 
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after 
the end of the period in which the employees render the 
related service are recognised in respect of employees’ 
services up to the end of the reporting period and are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as 
current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

Post-employment obligations
The company operates various defined contribution plans 
for its employees. Once the contributions have been paid, 
the company has no further payment obligations. The 
contributions are recognised as employee benefit 
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are 
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or 
a reduction in the future payments is available.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment schemes
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to 
particular employees of the Group through the Bytes 
Technology Group plc share option plans. 

Employee options
The fair values of options granted under the Bytes 
Technology Group plc share option plans are recognised 
as employee benefit expenses in the entities of the Group 
in which the employees are contracted and providing their 
services. The total amount to be expensed is determined 
by reference to the fair value of the options granted. The 
total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which 
is the period over which all the specified vesting 
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, 
the Group revises its estimates of the number of options 
issued that are expected to vest based on the service 
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to 
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity.

The company has a recharge arrangement with its 
subsidiaries whereby the company recharges the 
amount equal to the share-based payment charge 
to its subsidiaries according to the vesting schedule. 

The share-based payment reserve comprises the fair value 
of share awards granted which are not yet exercised. The 
amount will be reversed to retained earnings as and when 
the related awards vest and are exercised by employees.

1.17	 Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental 
costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares 
are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any 
tax effects.

1.18	 Dividends 
Dividends paid on ordinary shares are classified as equity 
and are recognised as distributions in equity.

1.19	 Rounding of amounts
All amounts disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements and notes have been rounded off to the 
nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

2	 Directors’ remuneration

Remuneration of directors:

Year ended 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Directors’ remuneration1 1,387 1,823

Social security costs 168 242

Pension costs 17 17

1,572 2,082

1	� Directors’ remuneration 
The amounts comprise fees paid to the non-executive directors and, for executive directors, salary and benefits earned for the period. Further information on directors’ 
remuneration is provided in the directors’ remuneration report on pages 102 to 127.

3	 Employee costs and numbers

Employee benefit expense:

Year ended 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Employee remuneration 774 629

Social security costs 96 109

Pension costs 25 21

895 759

The average monthly number of employees during the period was:

Year ended 
29 February 

2024 
Number

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
Number

Administration 6 5

6 5
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4	 Income tax expense

The major components of the company’s income tax expense are:

Year ended 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Current income tax charge in the year 157 –

Total current income tax charge 157 –

Current year (113) (19)

Adjustments in respect of prior year (1) –

Effect of changes in tax rates (2) (6)

Deferred tax credit (116) (25)

Total tax charge/(credit) 41 (25)

Reconciliation of total tax charge

The tax assessed for the period differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK applied to profit before tax:

Year ended 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

Year ended 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Profit before income tax 39,822 32,477

Income tax charge at the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 24.49% (2023: 19%)1 9,752 6,171

Effects of:

Non-deductible expenses (35) 38

Non-taxable income (9,674) (6,317)

Adjustments to previous periods (1) –

Effect of change in rate (2) –

Group relief surrendered – 83

Income tax charge/(credit) reported in profit or loss 41 (25)

1	 Prorated rate for change in the tax rate from 19% to 25% on 1 April 2023

Deferred tax assets

As at 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to: 

Property, plant and equipment (30) (47)

Provisions 8 –

Share-based payments 163 72

141 25

Deferred tax assets

As at 
29 February 

2024 
£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

At 1 March 25 –

Credited to profit or loss 116 25

Carrying amount at end of year 141 25
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Notes to the financial statements continued

5	 Investment in subsidiary
As at 

29 February 
2024 

£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Balance at 1 March 2022, 28 February 2023 and 29 February 2024 641,998 641,998

Subsidiary undertakings 
A detailed listing of the company’s direct and indirect subsidiaries is set out in note 29 in the notes to the financial information 
in the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

6	 Property, plant and equipment
Computer 

software
£’000

Total 
£’000

Cost

At 1 March 2022 – –

Additions 198 198

At 28 February 2023 and 29 February 2024 198 198

Depreciation

At 1 March 2022 – –

Charge for the year 11 11

At 28 February 2023 11 11

Charge for the year 66 66

At 29 February 2024 77 77

Net book value

At 28 February 2023 187 187

At 29 February 2024 121 121

7	 Trade and other receivables
As at 

29 February 
2024 

£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Amounts due from other Group companies 12,612 19,748

Prepayments 272 252

12,884 20,000

8	 Trade and other payables
As at 

29 February 
2024 

£’000

As at 
28 February 

2023 
£’000

Trade and other payables1 2,040 2,006

Amounts due to other Group companies2 5,820 9,440

7,860 11,446

1	 Trade and other payables include an accrual for costs in relation to the investigation around undisclosed share dealings as set out on pages 69 and 70. 

2	 Amounts due to other Group companies are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. 
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9	 Borrowings

On 17 May 2023 the Group entered into a new three-year committed Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) for £30 million, including 
an optional one-year extension to 17 May 2027, and a non-committed £20 million accordion to increase the availability of 
funding should it be required for future activity. The new facility replaced the previous RCF which was entered into in 
December 2020 and was set to expire in December 2023 but was cancelled, without penalty, on 17 May 2023, on 
commencement of the new RCF. The new facility has incurred an arrangement fee of £0.1 million, being 0.4% of the new 
funds available. Neither the company, nor any of its subsidiaries, has drawn down any amount on either the previous or the 
new facility and to the extent that there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the 
fee has been capitalised as a prepayment and amortised over the three-year period of the facility. The facility also incurs a 
commitment fee and utilisation fee, both of which are payable quarterly in arrears. For further details on the RCF, see note 
23(c) in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

10	 Share capital and share premium

Ordinary shares 
Allotted, called up and fully paid 

Number of 
shares

Nominal 
value 

£’000

Share 
premium 

£’000
Total 

£’000

At 1 March 2022 and 28 February 20231 239,482,333 2,395 633,636 636,031

Shares issued during the period 874,565 9 14 23

At 29 February 20242 240,356,898 2,404 633,650 636,054

1	� Shares issued during the prior period 
No shares were issued during the prior period. 

2	� Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares have a nominal value of £0.01. All ordinary shares in issue rank pari passu and carry the same voting rights and entitlement to receive dividends and other 
distributions declared or paid by the company. The company does not have a limited amount of authorised share capital. 

11	 Information included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements

Some of the information included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements is directly relevant to the financial 
statements of the company. Please refer to the following:

Note 6 – Auditors’ remuneration

Note 26(a) – Transactions with key management personnel

Note 27 – Share-based payments

Note 30 – Events after the reporting period
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